Regulatory Properties of Dendritic cells and B cells in Adaptive Immunity

Bengt Johansson-Lindbom

Department of Immunotechnology Lund University 2002

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ORIGINAL PAPERS | 4 |
|--|----|
| ABBREVIATIONS | 5 |
| 1 INTRODUCTION | 7 |
| 2 SECONDARY LYMPHOID ORGANS | IO |
| The rational basis of lymphoid architecture | IO |
| The molecular basis of lymphoid architecture | II |
| The primary immune response | 13 |
| 3 GERMINAL CENTERS | 15 |
| Morphological progression | 15 |
| Somatic mutations and class switch recombination | 16 |
| Signals that promote, shape, and | |
| maintain the GC-reaction | 17 |
| 4 T HELPER CELL POLARIZATION | 22 |
| The Th1/Th2 paradigm and the continued | |
| diversification of T helper cells | 22 |
| Effector functions | 23 |
| 5 DENDRITIC CELLS | 25 |
| Dendritic cell maturation | 26 |
| Human dendritic cell subsets and | |
| CD4 ⁺ T cell polarization | 30 |
| Dendritic cell - B cell interactions | 35 |
| 6 ANTIGEN-PRESENTATION BY B CELLS | 37 |
| Follicular helper T cells | 37 |
| Transmission of a reverse signal – | |
| a role for GC B cells in the Th2 development? | 38 |

| 7 | CONCLUDING REMARKS | 40 |
|----|--|----|
| 8 | POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA | 41 |
| 9 | ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 43 |
| 10 | D REFERENCES | 44 |
| 10 | D REFERENCES | 44 |

PAPERS I – IV

ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-IV).

- I Johansson, B., Ingvarsson, S., Björck, P., & Borrebaeck, C. A. K. 2000. Human interdigitating dendritic cells induce isotype switching and IL-13dependent IgM production in CD40-activated naive B cells. *J Immunol.* 164:1847-1854.
- II Johansson-Lindbom, B., & Borrebaeck, C. A. K. 2002. Germinal center B cells constitute a predominant physiological source of IL-4: Implication for Th2 development *in vivo*. *J Immunol*. 168:3165-3172.
- III Lindstedt, M., Johansson-Lindbom, B., & Borrebaeck, C. A. K. 2002. Global reprogramming of dendritic cells in response to a concerted action of inflammatory stimuli. *Int. Immunol. In press.*
- **IV** Johansson-Lindbom, B., Ingvarsson, S., & Borrebaeck, C. A. K. 2002. Th2development within germinal centers. *Manuscript*.

ABBREVIATIONS

| Ab | Antibody |
|----------------|---|
| AID | Activation-induced cytidine deaminase |
| APC | Antigen presenting cell |
| BCR | B cell receptor |
| CD | Cluster of differentiation |
| C _H | Constant domain of the immunoglobulin heavy chain |
| CSR | Class switch recombination |
| DC | Dendritic cell |
| Dp | Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus |
| DTH | Delayed type hypersensitivity |
| FDC | Follicular dendritic cell |
| GC | Germinal center |
| HEV | High endothelial venules |
| IC | Immune complex |
| IDC | Interdigitating dendritic cell |
| IFN | Interferon |
| Ig | Immunoglobulin |
| IL | Interleukin |
| LC | Langerhans cell |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccaride |
| MALT | Mucosa associated lymphoid tissues |
| МНС | Majorhistocompatibility complex |
| NK cells | Natural killer cells |
| PDC | Plasmacytoid dendritic cell |
| PNA | Peanut agglutinin |
| TCR | T cell receptor |
| Th cell | T helper cell |
| Tr1 | Regulatory Th cell |
| V | Variable |

I INTRODUCTION

The immune system of vertebrates is divided into innate and adaptive compartments, providing the host with different but yet interrelated protective responses against pathogens. Besides the physical boundaries towards the external environment, including the skin and mucosal surfaces, the innate immune system is composed of protective cells and molecules which rapidly become activated upon provocation. Some examples are natural killer cells (NK cells), scavenging macrophages and the complement system. To accommodate an immediate response innate immunity is compromised in terms of specificity and flexibility and can neither improve nor tailor its responses against a given antigen.

In marked contrast to the innate immune response, adaptive immunity is highly specific and exhibits a capacity to adapt host responses to the nature of infectious agents. B and T lymphocytes provide specific recognition of an immense variety of environmental antigens by expressing a diverse repertoire of clonally distributed antigen-specific receptors. This functional diversity is not present in germ-line configuration of the genome but is intrinsically created only among B and T cells by DNA-recombination of disconnected gene segments (Alt et al., 1992). During immune responses B and T cells displaying receptors with appropriate specificity are clonally expanded. In addition, B cells are subjected to somatic mutations within the genes encoding the antigen-binding site of the receptor, selected on the basis of improved affinity, and after that expanded (MacLennan and Gray, 1986; Wagner and Neuberger, 1996). Adaptive immunity is consequently both qualitatively (increased affinity) and quantitatively (expanded pool of specific cells) improved during the course of an immune response and give rise to B cells producing specific and high affinity antibodies (Ab), CD4⁺ T cells providing help for B cell differentiation (including Ab-production) and, finally, CD8⁺ T cells participating in direct lysis of target cells. Furthermore, after clearance of the infectious agent specific B and T lymphocytes are maintained at increased steady-state levels, exhibit lower thresholds for re-activation and hence provide the host with an immunological

memory, which facilitate a faster and more robust recall response (Gray, 1994). Also memory is an unique property of adaptive immunity.

The clonal selection theory of Ab responses evolved during the late 1940's and the beginning of the 1950's and was put forward in its whole context by F. Macfarlane Burnet (1959). Briefly, he proposed that individual B cells display unique Ab on their surface, and if these B cell receptors (BCR) encounter and bind the corresponding ligand (antigen) they start to divide and accordingly give rise to a large clone of B cells producing Abs with identical specificity. The clonal selection theory could not by it self explain why self-reactive clones not continuously were generated and caused autoimmunity. In 1960 F. Macfarlane Burnet and Peter B. Medawar were awarded the Nobel Prize in Medicine for their discovery of "acquired immunological tolerance", a process by which self reactive clones are deleted instead of activated. This negative selection of lymphocytes was suggested to occur during early embryonic life and since B cells with BCRs against "self-components" were deleted, activation of the specific immune response could be triggered by direct recognition of "non-self" components by the remaining pool of lymphocytes. However, it has become increasingly clear that in spite of the fact that self-reactive clones continuously are deleted also during adult life, this elimination is far from complete and new potentially self-reactive cells are also continuously generated, not the least by the process of somatic mutation. Instead, activation of the adaptive immune response depends upon a number of cellular and molecular events which must be coordinated in a spatial and temporal fashion. A highly specialized subset of innate leukocytes called dendritic cells (DC) have been revealed to constitute the critical switch for turning on these consecutive events (Banchereau *et al.*, 2000). Therefore innate immunity plays a crucial role in the recruitment of the adaptive immune response and in particular DCs possess the capacity to regulate the activation of specific T and B lymphocyte.

Immune regulation does not only concern whether specific responses shall be raised or not but also involves a polarization of effector functions. For example, a small virus and a multicellular metazoan parasite cannot be efficiently defeated by the same mechanisms. To accommodate a tailored response, T and B cells cannot only provide specificity but they can also secrete different kinds

8

of cytokines and Abs, respectively, and thus recruit different categories of effector cells (Romagnani, 1994). An example that in a clear way illustrates the importance of an appropriate immune class regulation is the inappropriate polarization of CD4⁺ T cells and the disproportional secretion of IgE Abs which cause the clinical manifestations of allergic disease (Corry and Kheradmand, 1999).

The work presented in this thesis covers aspects of (i) how lymphocytes are activated by DCs (Paper I and III) and (ii) how the class of an immune response is determined (Paper I, II and IV).

2 SECONDARY LYMPHOID ORGANS

Adaptive immune responses are initiated within the secondary lymphoid organs (MacLennan et al., 1997). These are the spleen, the peripheral lymph nodes, and the mucosa associated lymphoid tissues (MALT), including Peyer's patches in the small intestine and Waldever's ring of tonsils in the upper respiratory tract (Perry and Whyte, 1998). Whereas the spleen filters the blood and accounts for induction of immune responses against blood-borne antigens, the different lymph nodes and MALT are strategically positioned to guard peripheral tissues facing the external environment. Thus extra cellular fluid from most part of the body is drained into the afferent lymphatics and shuttled to the nearest situated lymph node. The different structures of MALT do not possess afferent lymphatics, and antigens are instead transported directly across the mucosal epithelia, predominantly by specialized epithelial cells called M cells (Neutra et al., 1996). Although the separate lymphoid organs exhibit anatomical variations (mostly as a consequence of how antigens are delivered and lymphocytes recruited), architectural features which are of crucial importance for induction of specific immunity appear to be rather conserved among them. Since a detailed anatomical description of lymphoid tissues is beyond the scope of this thesis, I will only give a summary of mechanisms involved in the development of this shared architecture, which provide the playground for recruitment of the adaptive immune response.

The rational basis of lymphoid architecture

The lymphocyte pool in the human body contains cells at a magnitude of 10^{12} . The potential diversity of different TCR-specificity has been calculated to approximately 10^{15} (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988), which obviously do not reflect the actual TCR-usage. Instead Arstila *et al.* (1999) employed an experimental approach to estimate the existent diversity among naïve T cell, which in human was found to potentially range from 2.4 x 10^7 - 10^8 different α/β TCRs. Accordingly, the precursor frequency of a given TCR-specificity does not exceed 2.4 x 10^{-7} . However, epitope-specific T cell responses do not typically recruit a single TCR-specificity but rather involve different T cell clones (although a quite limited number) (Maryanski *et al.*, 1996). This fact is reflected in a recent work by Blattman *et al.* (2002), in which the precursor frequency of a $CD8^+$ -restricted T cell response to a peptide antigen was estimated in mice to 5 x 10^{-6} . Although based on a single peptide-epitope instead of an intact proteinantigen (which under physiological conditions will generate several peptideepitopes and hence mobilize more T cell clones), the results provided by Blattman and coworkers clearly demonstrate an outermost challenging puzzle that the immune system has to deal with: to bring together APCs with exceptionally rare specific T and B lymphocytes. The solution to this problem is a tightly controlled migration of leukocytes and a highly ordered microarchitecture of the secondary lymphoid organs.

The molecular basis of lymphoid architecture

Naïve lymphocytes do not traffic to extralymphoid sites, under neither homeostatic nor inflammatory conditions (Picker and Butcher, 1992). Instead they continuously re-circulate through the secondary lymphoid organs, and while temporarily retained within these tissues, B and T cells become physically segregated resulting in separate B and T cell zones. The naïve B cells form follicular structures dispersed in cortex, which is situated beneath the anatomical compartments providing portal entry of antigens and APCs (*e.g.* subcapsular sinus in lymph nodes and the subepithelial dome in Peyer's patches). T lymphocytes become localized adjacent to the follicles in cortex where they form the T cell zones, in lymph nodes also referred to as paracortex (Rouse *et al.*, 1984).

The entrance of lymphocytes into the lymphoid organ and their subsequent zonal distribution within the tissue is largely governed by homeostatic chemokines and their receptors. Chemokines are low molecular weight chemotactic proteins. They commonly have a high isoelectric point resulting in electrostatic interaction with *e.g.* sulfated proteins and proteoglycans present on connective tissue. As a consequence they form concentration gradients, originating from the cellular sources of secretion (Cyster, 1999). Chemokine CCL21 (SLC) is constitutively produced at high levels by specialized high endothelial venules (HEVs). It triggers lectin-dependent firm adhesion of lymphocytes to the luminal side of the endothelium by signaling through counter-receptor CCR7 (Campbell *et al.*, 1998; Gunn *et al.*, 1998b). Subsequently, CCR7⁺ lymphocyte pass through the HEV into surrounding T cell zones. CCR7 is expressed on all naïve and a subset of memory T cells (Sallusto et al., 1999) and is critical for T cells extravasation through the HEVs (Forster et al., 1999). B cells are not equally restrictive in their usage of receptors and can enter lymph nodes and peyer's patches both in a CCR7- and CXCR4-dependent manner. Endothelial cells appear not to produce the CXCR4 ligand CXCL12 themselves but clearly display CXCL12 on their luminal surface, probably as a result of transcytosis of CXCL12 from the abluminal side where the protein is produced. In addition, in peyer's patches, but not in lymph nodes, B cells can utilize a high level expression of chemokine receptor CXCR5 to directly enter B cell areas through HEVs present in these locations (Okada et al., 2002). The corresponding ligand for CXCR5, CXCL13, is produced by stromal cells, including FDCs, only in the B cell follicles of lymphoid organ and has not been detected in non-lymphoid tissues (Gunn et al., 1998a; Legler et al., 1998). Presently it is not known whether HEVs produce CXCL13 themselves, but the chemokine has been detected on follicular endothelium both in murine peyer's patches and in human tonsil (Okada et al., 2002; Schaerli et al., 2000).

Regardless of which route B cells utilize for their entrance into the lymphoid tissue, their high levels of CXCR5-expression will ultimately localize them to the follicles. The important role for CXCR5 in the follicular homing is evident in mice with a targeted disruption of the CXCR5 gene. In these animals the various lymphoid organs are either completely degenerated or display severe architectural alterations including a complete absence of defined follicular structures. Moreover, transferred B cells from CXCR5-deficient mice fail to enter B cell areas in wild-type recipients, demonstrating the mandatory role for this receptor in follicular homing (Forster et al., 1996). Naïve and resting memory T cells do not express CXCR5 and do accordingly not migrate into follicles (Ansel et al., 1999). Instead they are retained in the T cell zones by CCL21, and yet a second ligand for CCR7, CCL19, being produced by stromal cells and DCs in this particular area (Cyster, 1999). By analogy with the CXCR5-deficient B cells lymphocytes transferred from CCR7 knock-out mouse are excluded from the T cell zones in the wild-type recipient (Forster *et al.*, 1999). To summarize, a zonal production of homeostatic chemokines in the

lymphoid tissue forms boundaries for B and T cells, which become segregated as a result of their differential expression of appropriate counter receptors.

The primary immune response

The primary immune response is characterized by a number of consecutively ordered events where APCs, T cells and B cells coordinate their efforts to provide protection against a previously not encountered antigen. The possibility to adoptively transfer large numbers of receptor-transgenic lymphocytes into syngenic recipients has bypassed limitations imposed by the otherwise low precursor frequencies *in vivo* and made it possible to visualize the kinetics, nature, and consequences of these cellular interactions. Within 18 hours after immunization of mice with a protein antigen in adjuvant DCs migrate from peripheral sites into the T cell zones of lymphoid organs where they establish antigen-specific interaction with CD4⁺ T cells (Ingulli et al., 1997; Stoll et al., 2002). The tight association between DCs and T cells is long-lived, and when Stoll et al. (2002) used laser scanning confocal microscopy for continuous imaging of intact explanted lymph node, T cells remained attached to the DCs throughout a 15-hour observation period. Within two days after immunization the T cells starts to divide and the magnitude of proliferation in the paracortex appear to peak approximately at day 4-5 (Garside et al., 1998; Kearney et al., 1994). With kinetics similar to the onset of cell division, the T cells also start to differentiate into separate subsets expressing new panels of chemokine receptors and adhesion molecules. A proportion of them upregulate tissue-selective adhesion molecules and receptors for inflammatory chemokines and thereby leave the lymphoid organ via the efferent lymphatics (Campbell and Butcher, 2002). These tissue homing cells, which also relatively rapidly start to produce effector cytokines (preferentially IFN- γ), reappear in the circulation roughly three days after immunization (Campbell and Butcher, 2002; Campbell et al., 2001) and directly home to interstitial spaces of inflamed tissues and organs (Reinhardt et al., 2001). Consistent to the mouse models, a large fraction of transitional CD45RA/RO double positive T cells isolated from human lymph nodes and tonsils express the skin-homing receptor cutaneous lymphocyteassociated antigen (CLA) (Picker et al., 1993)

CD4⁺ T cells specialized to provide help for GC-formation and B cell differentiation seem to evolve from the naïve T precursor cells with even faster kinetics. Already one day after in vitro stimulation with LPS-activated DCs. human naïve T cells are induced to express CXCR5, and after two days of activation the majority of T cells in these cultures have acquired high level expression of CXCR5 (Schaerli et al., 2001). In the adoptive transfer models T cells move into the edges of the B cell follicles where they physically interact with antigen-specific B cells 2 days after immunization (Garside et al., 1998). In agreement with a critical role for CXCR5 in the follicular homing (Forster et al., 1996), migration of T cells towards B cell areas coincide with their induced expression of CXCR5 (Ansel et al., 1999). Instead, antigen activated B cells show a reverse pattern of alterations and gain expression of CCR7, which permit their redistribution towards the follicular rim (Reif et al., 2002). In humans an antigen-dependent decrease in CXCR5 levels may also contribute to the movement towards the zonal boundary (Casamayor-Palleja et al., 2002). Therefore, in an immense landscape with lymphocytes equipped with antigenreceptors of irrelevant specificities, cognate interaction between exceptionally few specific T and B cells is arranged by a zonal production of homeostatic chemokines and a flexible expression of their counter receptors.

3 GERMINAL CENTERS

GCs are critical for affinity maturation and isotype switching of antibody responses as well as for development of B cell memory (Berek *et al.*, 1991; Jacob *et al.*, 1991; Liu *et al.*, 1989; Pascual *et al.*, 1994).

Morphological progression

GCs arise within the follicles as a consequence of extensive oligoclonal proliferation of B cells which have bound, internalized, and presented processed antigen on MHC II for cognate T cells at the follicular edge (Garside et al., 1998; Jacob and Kelsoe, 1992; Jacobson et al., 1974). Cell division among these GC-founder B cells is evident already at day 2-3 after immunization with protein antigens in adjuvant (Garside et al., 1998; Liu et al., 1991). After that a vigorous B cell proliferation give rise to an intra-follicular cluster of B cell blasts that is easily visualized at day 3-5 by staining tissue sections with the plant lectin peanut agglutinin (PNA) (Garside et al., 1998; Jacob and Kelsoe, 1992). Approximately at the same time as PNA⁺ GCs start to appear, the B cells blasts (termed centroblasts) start to accumulate mutations in their rearranged antibody variable (V) region genes (Jacob et al., 1991; McHeyzer-Williams et al., 1993). The onset of somatic mutation is in turn linked to differentiation into non-dividing centrocytes. As the centroblasts continue to proliferate and steadily give rise to new centrocytes, the interior of the follicle is divided into two distinguishable zones. Centroblasts occupy the dark zone proximal to the T cell zone whereas centrocytes become localized to the opposite pool, referred to as the light zone. Naïve B cells which do not participate in the GC-formation are excluded from the interior of the follicle and form the surrounding mantel zone, most dense distal to the T cell zone. The morphological progression of GCs in immunized mice was in detail analyzed and described by e.g. Liu et al. (1991) and has made it possible to identify and characterize the discrete stages of GCassociated B cell differention. The two important molecular events taking place within the microenvironment of this anatomical structure are somatic mutation and class switch recombination (CSR) of the Ig genes. Somatic mutation accumulate nucleotide insertions, deletions, and point mutations in the V exon of the Ig genes (Jacob et al., 1991; Ohlin and Borrebaeck, 1998; Wilson et al.,

1998), and this genetic diversification is then tested for functional improvement where centrocytes expressing high affinity Ig on their surface are selected by limited amounts of antigens (Liu et al., 1997). This means that B cells within GCs depend on exogenous signals for their survival, and ultimately such signals are only delivered to cells with an maintained or improved capacity to bind antigen. A high propensity to undergo apoptosis precedes the onset of somatic mutation and is indeed one of the first detectable features of GC-founder B cells (Lebecque et al., 1997). CSR does not affect Ig specificity or affinity but instead deletes the pre-existing constant C_{μ} gene and positions a new C_{H} gene proximal to the V gene (Harriman et al., 1993). This results in isotype switching of expressed Igs from IgM to either IgG, IgA or IgE. Each of these new isotypes displays different capability to fix complement, they bind to separate subsets of effector cells (as a result of differential expression of Fc- and complementreceptors on these cells) and they also vary in their ability to pass through mucosal epithelium (Heyman, 2000; Mostov, 1994). Therefore isotype switching largely governs the nature of an immune response against a given antigen and the regulation of CSR constitute a central and crucial event for the recruitment of appropriate arms of the immune system.

Somatic mutations and class switch recombination

Since somatic mutation (in centroblasts) was shown to precede CSR (in centrocytes), the two events were first considered as independent (Liu *et al.*, 1996). However, both of them display a high degree of resemblance in their prerequisite for activation of the mutating/recombinase activities. Both processes depend on substantial transcription from the target locus (Peters and Storb, 1996; Xu *et al.*, 1993), formation of DNA/RNA hybrids (Tian and Alt, 2000b; Tracy *et al.*, 2000) and double stranded DNA breaks (Bross *et al.*, 2000; Tian and Alt, 2000b). The recent finding that both processes are also induced by the same protein, activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), has clearly disproved the independence theory of somatic mutation and CSR (Muramatsu *et al.*, 2000). The discovery of AID was even more surprising in terms of its activity. Whereas the mutation/recombinase machinery modifies DNA sequences, AID was found to be an RNA-editing enzyme (Muramatsu *et al.*, 1999). It has therefore been suggested that AID modifies mRNAs encoding the mutating/recombinase enzymes (Muramatsu *et al.*, 2000). An alternative

interpretation is that AID acts directly on the DNA/RNA hybrid formation, which appear prior to DNA cleavage (Tian and Alt, 2000a). In any way, AID is expressed only in GCs of lymphoid tissues, and expression is absolutely necessary for induction of somatic mutation and CSR (Muramatsu et al., 2000). Most important, transfection of AID into fibroblasts results in mutations in an artificial substrate, demonstrating that no other B cell-specific co-factors account for the selective onset of V gene mutations within GCs (Yoshikawa et al., 2002). Whereas the extracellular signals that regulates expression of AID (and hence also somatic mutations and CSR) are poorly defined (discussed in next section), induced AID-expression may be sufficient for triggering the V gene mutations but clearly not for directing CSR. Switching of isotypes depends on cytokine-induced transcription from a specific intron promoter located upstream of each individual C_H gene, producing a germline encoded "sterile transcript" (Stavnezer-Nordgren and Sirlin, 1986). After processing, this sterile transcript forms the needed DNA/RNA hybrid with the complementary C_H locus and in this way makes the so called switch box accessible for site specific recombination (Snapper et al., 1997). Accordingly, also cytokines regulate CSR but are possibly redundant for somatic mutations. It is widely accepted that these cytokines are preferentially provided by the $CD4^+$ T cells within GCs. We have, however, in two separate works addressed cytokine production from DCs and from the GC B cells themselves (Paper I and III respectively). In paper I we demonstrate that human *in vivo*-derived DCs can produce several cytokines, including IL-13, which are known to regulate isotype switching and in accordance these DCs were found to trigger a switch to both IgG and IgA in CD40-activated naïve B cells. In paper III we provide evidence for GC B cells secreting IL-4. IL-4, together with IL-13, are critically needed for the CSR to the allergy-associated IgE isotype and has in addition been suggested to play an important role for the development of GC in MALT (Corry and Kheradmand, 1999; Vajdy et al., 1995). Therefore our results indicate that GC B cells can in an autocrine manner direct their own IgE CSR and, furthermore, that their IL-4 production may be important for the maintenance of the GC-reaction.

Signals that promote, shape, and maintain the GC-reaction

The extra-cellular signals which trigger the process of somatic mutation are poorly defined. Under normal physiological conditions help from CD4⁺ T cells

is required, and in this T-B cell contact the CD40 ligand (L) displayed on activated T cells costimulates B cell growth and GC-formation by triggering signaling from CD40 expressed by the B cells (Castigli et al., 1994; Foy et al., 1994; Kawabe et al., 1994). Mutations or other imposed alterations that prevent CD40-CD40L interaction, inhibit or severely impair the development of GCs (and therefore also somatic mutations and isotype switching) (Castigli *et al.*, 1994; Ferguson et al., 1996; Fournier et al., 1997; Kawabe et al., 1994; McAdam et al., 2001). These findings invariably support the idea that CD40Lexpressing T cells provide non-redundant signals for the GC-reactions. Nonetheless, transgenic mice that contain a large pool of B cells with a high affinity receptor against the T cell-independent antigen NP-Ficoll, display initial formation of GCs (de Vinuesa et al., 2000) and somatic mutations (Toellner et al., 2002) after NP-Ficoll immunization. Therefore neither T cells nor CD40L provide unique signal(s) for these two events. However, the GCs arising after NP-Ficoll immunization dramatically abort at the time when centrocytes normally are selected by T cells, demonstrating an overall indispensable role for T cells in affinity maturation and development of B cell memory. In accordance to this conclusion, the rescuing of cyntrocytes from apoptosis and the entry of B cells into the memory cell pathway are critically dependent on CD40-ligation (Gray et al., 1994; Liu et al., 1989).

FDCs have for long been recognized for their extraordinary capability to retain antigens *in vivo* in the form of immune complexes (ICs) (Tew and Mandel, 1979). Similar to T cells FDCs also appear to have dual functions in the GCreaction. They co-stimulate centroblast proliferation (Li *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2001), and thereafter they may present ICs with intact antigen for centrocytes, possibly providing means to rescue them from apoptosis and to select for improved affinity (Liu *et al.*, 1989; MacLennan and Gray, 1986; Tew *et al.*, 1997). Whether such FDC-held ICs are necessary for GC-development and affinity maturation, does however represent a controversial issue. By creating an experimental *in vivo* system where FDC lack ICs, Hannum *et al.* (2000) demonstrated a normal formation of GCs and an ordinary frequency and pattern of Ig V gene mutations (indicative of a functional affinity maturation of Abs) in the complete absence of FDC-bound ICs.

By which mechanisms do then FDCs possibly contribute to early formation of GCs and V gene mutation? When Burton et al. (1993) isolated high density B cells from nude mice and stimulated these with anti-µ-dextran (thereby crosslinking surface IgM present on naïve B cells), they found a 2-3-fold augmentation in B cell proliferation if also FDCs were added to the cultures. Therefore FDCs appear to provide a microenvironment in B cell follicles favorable for proliferation of also recently antigen-activated B cells. This property may reside in FDC-expressed molecules which can co-stimulate antigen-experienced B cells, including molecules 8D6 (Li et al., 2000) and CD137 (Pauly et al., 2002). In addition, Szakal et al. (1988) demonstrated that FDC-associated immune complexes were formed in vivo within one day after primary immunization, presented for follicular B cells, and thereafter endocytoced by the B cells. In this way FDCs sequester and concentrate antigens on their surface, perhaps allowing B cells to present MHC II-associated peptides for T cells even under physiological conditions when the soluble antigen-concentration is limiting (Batista and Neuberger, 2000; Kosco-Vilbois et al., 1993). Moreover, these accessory cells are key producers of CXCL13 and hence are critically involved in the organization of primary follicles and zonal distribution of lymphocytes (Ansel et al., 2000; Ngo et al., 1999). Therefore FDCs facilitate the encounter between rare specific T cells and cognate B cells. It is to be noted that in the T cell-independent response against NP-Ficoll described by Toellner et al. (2002) Ig V gene mutations were detected also in extra-follicular foci of plasma cells. Somatic mutations can therefore be triggered in the absence of both T cells and FDCs.

Apart from T cells and FDCs, also the complement system regulates GCassociated immune responses. Covalent attachment of activated products of complement C3 to antigen enhances antigen-immunogenicity (Dempsey *et al.*, 1996). Consistently, a number of reports have clearly demonstrated impaired Ab-responses after *in vivo* interference with C3 or the receptors CD21 and CD35, which bind the C3 products C3b and C3d (Gustavsson *et al.*, 1995; Hebell *et al.*, 1991; Heyman *et al.*, 1990; Pepys, 1972). A predominant mechanism for C3b/C3d deposition on antigen in non-immune subjects appears to be antigen-recognition by pre-formed IgM. Such IgM-based ICs dramatically enhance T cell-dependent immune responses in a C3-dependent manner when

administered in mice (Heyman et al., 1988). By creating mice specifically lacking B cell complement receptors Croix et al. (1996) could demonstrate that a direct interaction of C3 products with CD21 and/or CD35 expressed on B cells was necessary for T cell-dependent B cell responses. Two separate mechanisms account for the complement-dependent nature of Ab-responses. First, complement-deposition on antigen mediates cross-linking of the BCR and CD21, leading to enhanced signaling from the receptor complex (Croix et al., 1996). Therefore complement lowers the threshold for B cell activation. Secondly, CD21 appears to provide a signal that is independent of antigen-BCR interaction and is required for survival of B cells within GCs (Fischer et al., 1998). Also FDCs express CD21 and CD35, and follicular retention of ICs by FDCs does indeed depend on these receptors (Fang et al., 1998). Regarding FDCs involvement in the complement-dependent enhancement of Ab-responses, there is an apparent conflict between different reports (Ahearn et al., 1996; Fang et al., 1998; Hannum et al., 2000). One possible explanation for such discrepancies may be the use of different immunization regimes since, for example, adjuvant appears to overcome some of the observed impairments in CD21/CD35-deficient mice (Wu et al., 2000).

Taken together it is difficult to distinguish separate mechanism which specifically trigger GC-formation and somatic mutation. I think that these events are regulated in a redundant fashion and mainly take place as a consequence of vigorous antigen-dependent B cell proliferation. This suggestion is also supported by a recent work of Bergthorsdottir *et al.* (Bergthorsdottir *et al.*, 2001), demonstrating that somatic mutations can be triggered *in vitro* after BCR, CD40 and CD38-ligation, a signal-combination also promoting extensive B cell growth. *In vivo*, CD40-ligation is not an absolute requirement for these processes (as discussed above), and CD38 was found to be irrelevant. Under normal physiological conditions, however, the literature supports a scenario where antigen-activated B cells form GCs if activated in the presence of CD40L-expressing T cells, FDCs and activated complement. This does not exclude other regulatory components, and in this context we demonstrated a capacity of tonsil bone-marrow derived DCs to directly co-stimulate CD40dependent proliferation, isotype switching, and Ab production during the primary B cell response (Paper I). These results are discussed in Paper I and will also be addressed later on.

The Th1/Th2 paradigm and the continued diversification of T helper cells. At the center of immune class regulation $CD4^+$ T cells transmit, amplify and sustain polarized immune responses. The original division of $CD4^+$ T cells into separate T helper (Th) 1 and Th2 subsets was done by Mossman *et al.* (1986) and was based on the finding that murine $CD4^+$ T cell clones produced distinct patterns of cytokines in response to antigen or Con A stimulation. Essentially the same cytokine-signatures could be demonstrated for human $CD4^+$ T cells, resulting in an establishment of the Th1/Th2 terminology (Romagnani, 1991). The regulatory properties of Th cells in immune responses have since then represented one of the most extensively studied fields within immunological research. The classification of disparate Th cell subsets has also been further diversified and today include Th1, Th2, Th0, Th3, and regulatory Th cells (Tr1), the two latter of which appear to be specialized in maintenance of peripheral tolerance (Groux, 2001).

Th1 cells produce IFN- γ and TNF- β . Th2 cells are distinguished by a robust production of IL-4, IL-5 and/or IL-13, and, importantly, by a complete absence of IFN-y synthesis. Th0 cells are not so picky in their preference and consequently combine the Th1 and Th2 phenotypes (Romagnani, 1994). Th3 and Tr1 cells secrete TGF-b and IL-10, respectively, and can suppress both Th1 and Th2 responses (Bacchetta et al., 1994; Barrat et al., 2002; Groux et al., 1997; Weiner, 2001). Even though many responses against infectious agents manifest both a Th1 and a Th2 component (Romagnani, 1994), a failure in directing Th cells towards a Th1- or a Th2-oriented response, respectively, can have severe consequences for host welfare. A by now classic example is the infection of different laboratory mouse strains with the intracellular protozoan Leishmania major. Infection of C57BL/6 mice provokes Th1 polarization and IFN- γ production which in turn activates macrophages to clear the infection. By contrast, BALB/c mice are susceptible to infection because of a genetic predisposition to develop a Th2-oriented response, where specific Th2 cells impair macrophage functions by producing IL-4. Therefore these mice develop progressive lesions that never heal (Louis et al., 1998). Similar phenomenon can

also be seen among humans, where for example immunological resistance to Mycobacterium leprae is associated with a Th1-oriented cytokine profile but Th2-like responses cause progression of leprosy disease (Yamamura et al., 1991). Inappropriate Th cell polarization and/or activation can also cause destructive inflammatory manifestations and tissue damage in response to otherwise innocuous environmental antigens. Allergic diseases represent the key example of such "unnecessary" Th cell responses and appear to evolve as a consequence of disproportional Th2-polarization and IgE isotype switching in genetically predisposed subjects (Parronchi et al., 1991; Robinson et al., 1992; Wierenga *et al.*, 1990). The original interpretation of the allergic phenotype was that atopic individuals developed Th2 responses to antigens which in non-atopic subjects caused Th1-polarizatoion (Kapsenberg et al., 1991; Romagnani, 1994). For example, Wierenga et al. (1990) reported that house dust mite *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (Dp)-specific T cell clones established from patients with atopic dermatitis or allergic asthma displayed a Th2 phenotype whereas Dp-specific clones from non-atopic subjects displayed a Th1-like profile. More recent progress in this field indicate that clinical manifestations of allergic disease may not necessarily arise in atopic individuals because of a Th1 to Th2 deviation but may instead reflect a drift from a Th2 response supporting IgG4 class switching to a Th2 response supporting IgE production (Platts-Mills et al., 2001). Interestingly, allergic patients undergoing immunotherapy display the reverse switch (*i.e.* levels of specific IgE drops and specific IgG4 levels increase), and this switch is accompanied by the appearance of allergen-specific and IL-10 producing Tr1 cells (Akdis et al., 1998). It has therefore been suggested that the increased prevalence of atopic diseases in the industrialized world may be caused by an altered balance between Th2 and Tr1 cells in predisposed subjects (Yazdanbakhsh et al., 2002). This further exemplifies the complexity in the regulatory network of Th cells and highlights the importance of understanding how Th cell development is regulated in the first place by *e.g.* APCs.

Effector functions

Th1 cells are primary responsible for DTH reactions. Their cytokine-profile support B cell isotype switching to IgG Abs that fix complement and bind complement receptors and Fcγ receptors preferentially expressed on

macrophages and NK cells. In this way Th1 cells target antigens to effector cells which are potent phagocytes and/or possess cytolytic activity. The Th1associated secretion of IL-2, IFN- γ , and TNF- β also promote differentiation of CD8⁺ T cells into active cytotoxic cells, recruits inflammatory leukocytes and trigger macrophage activation (including nitric oxide release).

Th2 cells support the allergic reaction, which can be an overall beneficial host response against e.g. metazoan parasites (round and flat worms) (Finkelman et al., 1997). In general, antibody responses generated under Th2-oriented conditions appear to be more robust and characterized by the production of noncomplement fixing isotypes (IgG4, IgE and IgA in humans and IgG1, IgE and IgA in mice). It is, however, important to emphasize that Th2 cells do not represent an unique "B cell-helper subset", and that responses against several pathogens in mice are characterized by an exclusive production of the Th1- and IFN- γ -associated IgG2a isotype (Toellner *et al.*, 1998). The role for Th2 cells in pathogenesis of atopic diseases is neither limited to their high capacity to provide help for B cells and trigger IgE isotype switching. Indeed, Th2 cells can promote all signature features of allergic tissue inflammation, including IL-5 dependent recruitment and activation of eosinophils, IL-4-mediated activation of mast cells, and IL-4 and IL-13 induced expression of eotaxin from stromal cells. Finally, they can directly instigate the airway remodeling that occurs in patients suffering from allergic asthma (Romagnani, 2001). Therefore Th1 and Th2 cells are equally capable to migrate into peripheral target tissues and orchestrate inflammatory responses (Panina-Bordignon et al., 2001). However, the natures of Th1 and Th2 induced responses are entirely different.

5 DENDRITIC CELLS

The first visualization of DCs, as described in the literature, was done by Langerhans (1868). He identified a cell population in epidermis with a morphological appearance which was not compatible with an epithelial origin. Instead, he suggested that these cells could represent sensory nerve endings, a highly understandable conclusion given the irregular shape of DCs. The realization of DCs as APCs awaited until the beginning of the 1970's when Steinman and coworkers in a number of publications described a novel cell population in the peripheral lymphoid organs of mice (Steinman et al., 1975; Steinman and Cohn, 1973; Steinman and Cohn, 1974; Steinman et al., 1974). These cells displayed a similar irregular and "branching" morphology as originally described for the Langerhans cells (LCs). They were bone marrow derived but could be distinguished from irregularly shaped phagocytes as having a low number of lysosomes and a poor capacity to internalize colloidal particles. It was also Steinman and coworkers who originally termed these cells "dendritic cells" (Steinman and Cohn, 1973) and demonstrated that DCs were superior to other cell types present in the mouse spleen to stimulate proliferation of allogenic T cells (Steinman and Witmer, 1978). The incorporation of LCs into the DC-family occurred gradually. In the context of DC-history it was early noted that LCs could selectively pick up antigens in the epidermal tissue (Shelley and Juhlin, 1977) and, furthermore, that they in vitro could stimulate antigen-specific and allogenic T cell proliferation with an efficacy at least similar to macrophages (Green et al., 1980; Streilein et al., 1980; Toews et al., 1980). This led to the conclusion that LCs could represent DCs (Thorbecke et al., 1980). A direct relationship between the LCs and the DCs present in the lymphoid organs was supported by the findings that lymph node DCs localized to the T cell zones (interdigitating DCs; IDCs) contained low levels of the LCspecific organelle Birbeck granule (Kamperdijk et al., 1978). In further support for this notion, purified LCs were found to be immunologically immature, with only a very weak capacity to stimulate T cells, but after cultivation matured into highly efficient stimulators of allogenic T cells (Schuler and Steinman, 1985). The functional significance of these findings became clear when it was demonstrated that LCs and other immature DCs residing in peripheral tissues

acquired antigen at the site of its entry and migrated via the afferent lymphatics into the T cell zones where they provoked antigen-specific T cell activation (Fossum, 1988; Kripke *et al.*, 1990; Macatonia *et al.*, 1987; Moll *et al.*, 1993).

These early studies establish some of the key features of DC-function in relation to adaptive immunity. First, DCs display two functionally distinct stages, one being immature and non-immunogenic and one being mature and stimulatory, and can therefore regulate the activation of specific immunity. Secondly, the immature DCs sample the bodily tissues for the presence of antigens whereas their mature progenies selectively present the acquired antigens for T cells in the lymphoid organs. Accordingly, DCs physically link the peripheral tissues to the lymphoid organs. Finally, in the dose-response assays performed by Steinman and Witmer (1978), the number of DCs in the primary mixed leukocytes reaction (MLR) correlated closely with the MLR response, whereas other spleen leukocytes, including B cells and mononuclear phagocytes, could not support significant T cell proliferation. A widely accepted interpretation of these results is that only DCs can activate naïve T cells and therefore represent the only cells being capable of eliciting the primary immune response (Banchereau *et al.*, 2000).

Given the important role of DCs in the induction of primary immune responses, DC research during the past ten years has to a large extent focused on i) which signals trigger the process of DC-maturation, ii) the role of DCs in immune class regulation, iii) the role of DCs in induction and maintenance of tolerance (thymic and peripheral) and finally, iv) if such regulatory properties of DCs preferentially are conferred by different functions among disparate subsets or rather by a flexibility within single subsets.

Dendritic cell maturation

Immature DCs are strategically poised at the interface of the interior and external environments of the body. Thus they are especially frequent in the epidermis and dermis of the skin as well as in epithelial layers of mucosa. Also lymphoepithelial structures such as the human tonsil (Bjorck *et al.*, 1997) and murine Peyer's patches (Iwasaki and Kelsall, 2000) contain a large number of apparently immature DCs which are localized to the reticulated crypt epithelium

and subepithelial dome, respectively. In humans the intraepithelial DCs are $CD1a^+ LCs$ whereas dermis and subepithelial compartments contain $CD1a^-$ dermal DCs (Cerio *et al.*, 1989; Fithian *et al.*, 1981; Nestle *et al.*, 1993). In Peyers patches of mice the DC-population appears to be further diversified, but this will not be discussed here (Iwasaki and Kelsall, 2001).

The immature DCs are equipped with wide range of receptors which can mediate internalization of antigens. Some examples are receptors of the carbohydrate-binding lectin superfamily including Langerin (Valladeau et al., 2000), DC-SIGN (Engering et al., 2002; Geijtenbeek et al., 2000), the mannose receptor (Sallusto et al., 1995), and DEC-205 (Jiang et al., 1995). Also Fc receptors are expressed on the DCs, allowing them to utilize antibodies for binding and uptake of antigens (Fanger et al., 1997; Regnault et al., 1999). Moreover, the immature DCs can efficiently phagocytose bacteria, yeast and other parasites (Guermonprez et al., 2002). Internalized antigens are either processed along the endosomal/lysosomal pathway and thereafter redistributed to the cell surface as peptides associated to MHC class II, or alternatively transported into the cytosol for cross presentation on MHC class I (Guermonprez *et al.*, 2002; Heath and Carbone, 2001). More recent findings that DCs can engulf host apoptotic cells for subsequent presentation of antigens derived from these apoptotic cells on both MHC class I and II, demonstrate how these APCs, seemingly in a unique way, can elicit both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses against otherwise "hidden" antigens (Albert et al., 1998; Russo et al., 2000; Yrlid and Wick, 2000).

The process, by which DCs transform from the immature to the mature appearance, is referred to as maturation and is associated with an extensive transcriptional and functional reprogramming of the cells (Paper III and Huang *et al.*, 2001). Even though the nature of the maturation process can vary to a great extent, partially depending on intrinsic features of the stimuli, some key events are conserved regardless variations among the provocative agents. I think that a better way to put it is: some criteria must be met, if DCs shall be able to prime naïve T cells, and these criteria define DC-maturation. First, DCs must be able to interact with the naïve T cells within the T cell zones of lymphoid organs. As described above this interaction occurs with fast kinetics during the

primary immune response, and the directional migration of DCs into the T cell zones is mediated by an induced expression of CCR7 and hence acquired responsiveness to CC21, which besides the HEVs is also present on lymphatic vessels (Saeki et al., 1999; Yanagihara et al., 1998). Secondly, in order to prime naïve T lymphocytes DCs must provide co-stimulation (Jenkins and Schwartz, 1987), and this is achieved by up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, and CD86 (Inaba et al., 1994; Larsen et al., 1992; Young et al., 1992). Finally, these events must be coordinated in a temporal fashion to match optimal redistribution of peptide/MHC complexes from lysosomes to the cell surface (Lanzavecchia et al., 1999; Pierre et al., 1997). These three points, migration, co-stimulation, and peptide/MHC redistribution, are the most critical features of DC maturation. Apart from these the maturational process is accompanied with numerous alterations in DC phenotype, including a switch in the usage of adhesion molecules and induced expression of chemokines and proinflammatory cytokines (Banchereau et al., 2000). Several of these aspects are covered in Paper III, in which we used gene chip technology to analyze in detail the nature and kinetics of the DC maturation being induced by inflammatory agents.

It is also important to emphasize that migration of DCs towards lymphoid organs occurs under steady state conditions in the absence of obvious maturation and that the net result of this spontaneous migration seems to be induction of T cell tolerance (Hawiger *et al.*, 2001). Since it has been shown that DCs in the Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes in rat contain DCs which have engulfed apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells, it is likely that the homeostatic migration of DCs into lymphoid tissues represent a physiological process involved in inducing and maintaining peripheral tolerance (Huang *et al.*, 2000).

Since DC maturation represents the key switch for induction of specific B and T cell responses, it is of critical importance to understand how the immature to mature DC transition is activated. In 1992 Janeway suggested that activation of adaptive immunity required recognition of common constituents of pathogenic microorganisms and furthermore wrote, "I consider that receptors for these structures have been selected over evolutionary time to provide broad-spectrum recognition of harmful foreign materials." This idea was based on the discovery

that APCs could be induced to provide co-stimulatory signals if exposed to bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), influenza viruses, or polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid (poly-I:C) (Liu and Janeway, 1991). As a curiosity it can be mentioned that Janeway, in parallel to putting forward his theory of nonclonal recognition of pathogenic motives, also suggested that DCs were "sluggish" in antigen uptake and therefore could be, and were, constitutively active in costimulation. DCs were virtually limited to deal with viruses since these were "least likely to trigger innate immunity or induce co-stimulatory signals." (Janeway, 1992). In 1997 Janeway and colleagues (Medzhitov et al., 1997) described the cloning and characterization of human Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and further demonstrated that a constitutively active form of the receptor induced expression of CD80 and inflammatory cytokines. The natural ligand for TLR4 was then shown to be LPS (Poltorak *et al.*, 1998). Presently ten different TLRs have been identified in humans and mice, several of which have been shown to bind evolutionary conserved pathogenic motives (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). All these receptors have been identified among human DC subsets (Kadowaki et al., 2001). Therefore DCs provide the direct link between innate and adaptive immunity.

Apart from pathogens, DCs can also be induced to mature in response to inflammatory mediators such as TNF- α and IL-1 β (Roake *et al.*, 1995; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). This route of DC activation may represent an indirect sensing of pathogens because inflammation can be triggered by pathogen recognition receptors present on cells other than DCs including epithelial cells (Cario and Podolsky, 2000; Diamond *et al.*, 2000; Shuto *et al.*, 2001). Alternatively, intra-cellular constituents being released from *e.g.* necrotic cells may stimulate production of inflammatory cytokines. (Gallucci and Matzinger, 2001; Henson *et al.*, 2001; Matzinger, 1994). A third category of molecules which can mediate DC-maturation is type I interferons (*i.e.* IFN- α and IFN- β). These cytokines are released from virus-infected cells and are potent adjuvant for initiation of specific immunity (Blanco *et al.*, 2001; Le Bon *et al.*, 2001; Santini *et al.*, 2000).

After the discovery of the TLRs it has been put forward that these are essential for inflammatory responses and DC-maturation *in vivo* (Janeway and

Medzhitov, 2002). It has also been suggested that inflammatory mediators are not capable to stimulate complete DC-maturation (Granucci *et al.*, 2001). In paper III we demonstrate that a cocktail of inflammatory mediators (which may more accurately mimic *in vivo* inflammation as compared to experiments performed with TNF- α only) can induce a comprehensive and sustained reprogramming of DCs, in many aspect quite similar to the pathogen-induced DC-maturation (Huang *et al.*, 2001).

Human dendritic cell subsets and CD4⁺ T cell polarization

The unique capacity of DCs to activate naïve T cells has raised the question weather DCs also orchestrate primary Th cell polarization. Two alternative strategies of DCs to accommodate immune class regulation have been addressed. First, in both humans and mice, DCs are heterogeneous in terms of phenotype, function, and tissue distribution. This may lend evidence to the idea that the separate subsets of DCs divide the labor of class regulation, where one subset intrinsically promotes Th1 development and a second subset instructs Th2 differentiation. Secondly, a large number of different pathogen recognition receptors and other receptors involved in recognition of antigen on each of the various DC subsets indicate that DCs themselves are susceptible to functional modulation by antigens and/or their immediate microenvironment. Therefore there may be a "lineage component" and a "plasticity component" in DC regulation of T cell responses as suggested by *e.g.* Liu *et al.* (2001).

Hematopoietic CD34⁺ progenitors from cord blood, bone marrow, or blood differentiate along at least two separate developmental pathways in cultures supplemented with GM-CSF and TNF- α (Caux *et al.*, 1997; Caux *et al.*, 1996). One pathway involves the generation of CD11c⁺CD1a⁺ DCs continuously lacking expression of the monocyte related CD14 surface marker. Morphologically and phenotypically the CD1a⁺/CD14⁻ DCs resemble the epithelial LCs, and their generation is promoted by TGF- β , *in vivo* abundantly secreted by *e.g.* the epidermal keratinocytes. The second pathway furnishes a CD11c⁺CD1a⁻CD14⁺ intermediate which can further differentiate into CD11c⁺ DCs sharing several properties with the *in vivo* dermal and interstitial DCs. Consistent to the intermediate CD14⁺ phenotype of this second pathway, blood monocytes cultured with GM-CSF and IL-4 make up a second source for the non-LC related DCs (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). Interestingly, some degree of reversibility seems to exist in between the two pathways as supplementing the conditioned monocyte cultures with TGF- β allows the generation of LC-related DCs (Geissmann *et al.*, 1998). The physiological importance of TGF- β for LC development is evident from the selective lack LCs in TGF- β knock-out mouse (Borkowski *et al.*, 1996).

Besides the CD34-derived immature DCs, which appear to leave the bone marrow as committed CD11c⁺ DCs (Ito *et al.*, 1999), DCs are also generated in the periphery during inflammatory conditions (Liu, 2001). In accordance to the possibility to use monocytes as DC precursors *in vitro*, phagocyting human monocytes migrating through a single layer of endothelial cells acquire properties of DCs (Randolph et al., 1998), and inflammatory monocytes that phagocytose injected fluorescent microspheres in mice migrate to lymphoid organs where they express DC-restricted markers and high levels of costimulatory molecules (Randolph et al., 1999). A second putative DC precursor that can perhaps develop DC-functions in vivo was first described, in the context of DCs, by Grouard et al. (Grouard et al., 1997). These so called plasmacytoid cells are CD11c⁻, arise in the bone marrow (Olweus *et al.*, 1997), and migrate towards sites of inflammation, including inflamed tonsils (Grouard et al., 1997), nasal mucosa of experimentally induced allergic rhinitis (Jahnsen et al., 2000), and cutaneous lesions of lupus erythematosus (Farkas et al., 2001). In addition, they have been found to accumulate at sites of tumor growth (Zou et al., 2001). The lineage classification of the plasmacytoid cells represents a controversial issue with conflicting data supporting either a myeloid (Facchetti et al., 1988; Olweus et al., 1997; Prasthofer et al., 1985) or a lymphoid origin (Res et al., 1999; Spits et al., 2000). Previous discrepancies may, however, be explained by more recent data, suggesting that they represent a phylogenetic unstable subset undergoing cell fate conversion (Comeau et al., 2002). A prominent trait of these cells is their extensive production of IFN- α and β in response to viruses (Cella et al., 1999; Siegal et al., 1999). An analogous population of IFN- α producing cells has recently been demonstrated in mice and was found to be the principal IFN- α producers after *in vitro* exposure to herpes simplex virus (Bjorck, 2001) and influenza virus (Nakano et al., 2001) as well as after *in vivo* infection with cytomegalovirus (Asselin-Paturel *et al.*, 2001).

The plasmacytoid cell may represent *in vivo* precursors for DC differentiation since *in vitro* culturing with IL-3 and CD40L generates cells with typical DC morphology, phenotype, and function (Grouard *et al.*, 1997). Also, viral stimulation can induce plasmacytoid DC-differentiation *in vitro*, perhaps representing a physiological pathway for their conversion into DCs (Kadowaki *et al.*, 2000). However, evidence of a DC-related function of these cells *in vivo* is still very limited (Cella *et al.*, 2000).

The most consistent feature of DCs is that they produce substantial amounts of IL-12 and/or IFN- α/β in response to microbes or viruses and consequently direct Th1 differentiation (Barton and Medzhitov, 2002; Cella et al., 2000; Macatonia et al., 1995; Sousa et al., 1997). Cognate interaction with CD40L expressing T cells or maturation in the presence of IFN-y further enhance their IL-12 production (Cella et al., 1996; Snijders et al., 1998; Vieira et al., 2000). However, the different DC subsets appear to differ intrinsically in their cytokine producing capacity. For example, in mice $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs can readily secrete large amounts of IL-12 whereas $CD8\alpha^{-}/CD11b^{+}$ subsets generally appear to secrete lower levels (Pulendran *et al.*, 1997). In accordance to this, the CD8 α^+ DCs promote production of IFN-y dependent IgG2a *in vivo*, whereas $CD8\alpha^{-1}$ /CD11b⁺ subsets facilitate production of the Th2-associated isotype IgG1 (Pulendran *et al.*, 1999). The picture becomes even more complicated since the various subsets of DCs express different patterns of TLRs, leading to different microbes activating different populations of DCs (Hornung et al., 2002; Jarrossay et al., 2001; Kadowaki et al., 2001). Furthermore, a recent study addressing DC-responses against cytomegalovirus in mice revealed that IFN- α/β producing CD8 α^+ DCs suppressed IL-12 production from CD11b⁺ DCs, establishing a cross-regulatory mechanism for in vivo regulation of cytokine production from these cells (Dalod et al., 2002). Taken together, it is difficult to make conclusions regarding host-responses based on in vitro studies focused on a single DC population.

Concerning the occurrence of DC subsets in human being differentially prone to promote Th1 and Th2 responses, respectively, the CD11c⁻ DCs generated *in vitro* from plasmacytoid cells (PDC) in the presence of IL-3 and CD40L were first described as poor producers of IL-12 and to preferentially support Th2-

differentiation in vitro (Pulendran et al., 2000; Rissoan et al., 1999). However, the interpretation of a Th2-skewing capacity of the PDCs was essentially based on the vigorous IL-10 production these cells triggered from naïve CD4⁺ T cells. In humans IL-10 does not represent a prototypic Th2 cytokine (Sornasse et al., 1996). Instead, as mentioned in previous chapter, IL-10 can suppress both Th1 and Th2 associated proliferation and differentiation (Groux et al., 1997). Subsequent studies have indeed confirmed that PDCs can render antigenspecific CD4⁺ T cells unresponsive (Kuwana et al., 2001). In addition, they appear to be capable to assist in the generation of IL-10 producing $CD8^+$ regulatory T cells (Gilliet and Liu, 2002). Finally, in direct discordance to the results published by Rissoan et al. (1999), Cella et al. (2000) showed that PDCs promoted strong Th1 polarization in response to both influenza virus and CD40L stimulation. In line with this finding CpG oligodeoxynucleotides, mimicking bacterial DNA, synergize with CD40L stimulation to induce IL-12 production from PDC (Krug et al., 2001). Presently, there do not exist any solid and consistent evidence for a human DCs-lineage being intrinsically specialized in supporting Th2 differentiation.

The TLRs signals via adapter protein MyD88 and MyD88-deficient mice fail to raise Th1-responses after immunization with antigen mixed with bacterial adjuvant (Kawai et al., 1999; Schnare et al., 2001). Yet, in these mice B cells produce the IL-4-dependent IgG1 and IgE isotypes under identical conditions. In addition, the MyD88-deficient mouse can raise perfect (even increased) Th2oriented responses when immunized with alum as adjuvant (non-bacterial stimuli) (Schnare *et al.*, 2001). These results demonstrate that TLRs are not essential for the Th2 development and suggest that DCs must utilize a different kind of receptors to be able to directly promote Th2-differentiation. In a pioneering study Fè d'Ostiani et al. (2000) demonstrated that this very well may be the case. By analyzing DC-function in relation to yeast and hyphae of the fungus *Candida albicans*, they provided most convincing evidence that DCs were able to discriminate between the two forms of the fungus. Both yeast and hyphae were phogocytosed but ingestion of yeast primed DCs for IL-12 production whereas phagocytosed hyphae did not induce IL-12 but instead activated DCs to produce IL-4. Consequently, when exposed to yeast form of C. albicans DCs primed IL-12 dependent Th1 differentiation in vivo and, in

marked contrast, when exposed to hyphae, IL-4-dependent Th-2 polarization. Therefore, although DCs appear to secrete IL-12 in response to most microorganisms, this study clearly demonstrate that these cells possess a certain degree of flexibility in their regulation of $CD4^+$ T cell responses. Indications of similar capacity of DCs to modulate T cell responses in other murine experimental systems have later been reported. (Pulendran *et al.*, 2001; Whelan *et al.*, 2000). The contention that DCs directly can instruct Th2-differentiation was most recently further substantiated in a study with human cells, showing that thymic stromal lymphopoietin, secreted by epithelial cells at sites of allergic inflammation, matured CD11c⁺ DCs *in vitro* to promote a Th2 development characterized by substantial production of IL-5 and IL-13 but only limited amounts of IL-4 (Soumelis *et al.*, 2002).

Overall, I believe that it is important to consider the influence of DCs on CD4⁺ T cell polarization in the context of the spatial and temporal nature of the primary immune response. DCs rapidly migrate into the T cell zones of lymphoid tissues where they interact with specific T cells for a limited period of time, let us say 15 hours (Stoll et al., 2002). Even if optimally primed for IL-12 production, DCs can only provide the cytokine at an early stage of this interaction since IL-12 synthesis displays a fast and transient kinetics with a peak in production at approximately eight hours after LPS-induced maturation (Langenkamp et al., 2000). After that DCs rapidly downregulate their IL-12 production and in addition become refractory to further IL-12 inducing stimuli, in vitro (Kalinski et al., 1999) as well as in vivo (Reis e Sousa et al., 1999). Since stable polarization of T cells requires modulation of chromatin structure at the different cytokine loci (Agarwal and Rao, 1998) and this process generally occurs only after several cell cycles (Grogan et al., 2001), T cells remain rather susceptible to further polarizing instructions, even after a prolonged period of time (Murphy et al., 1996). This means that after their initial priming on DCs in the T cell zone, the naïve T cells may not be committed to differentiate towards a fixed cytokine-producing phenotype and therefore subsequent encounter with other APCs in the lymphoid organ can enhance or redirect the polarization process (Paper III and IV and, MacDonald and Pearce, 2002). Moreover, the demonstration of *in vitro* induced IFN-y production in allergen-specific human Th2 cell lines suggests that T cells can be redirected in their cytokine production

at all stages of an immune response (Parronchi et al., 1999). Moreover, the longlasting persistence of antigen-presenting DCs in the inflamed airways of mice exposed to Leishmania LACK antigen may even indicate that T cells can be further polarized after having left the lymphoid tissue, perhaps in the periphery at sites of chronic inflammation (Julia et al., 2002). Finally, although I, on purpose, have chosen to restrict the discussion concerning CD4⁺ T cell polarization to the influence of APCs and their cytokine production, it is important to emphasize that several other parameters accounts for the observed skewing of T cell responses. For example, different epitopes on a single protein antigen can elicit different Th cell responses (Parronchi et al., 1998). Also a single point mutation in a TCR can dramatically alter the skewing towards Th1 or Th2, suggesting that the chemical and structural nature of the contact surface between the TCR and the peptide/MHC class II complex has an impact on the process of Th cell polarization (Blander et al., 2000). Similar, a single point mutation in a protein antigen can completely redirect the Th cell response in vivo (Lee et al., 2000). To summarize, DCs possess a remarkable ability to regulate Th cell polarization, in particular because of their robust but regulated IL-12 production. Also other DC derived molecules appear to directly modulate T cell responses, including IL-4 in mice. However, a number of parameters other than DCs play most important roles in CD4⁺ T cell polarization *in vivo*.

Dendritic cell – B cell interactions

As mentioned in chapter 3 somatic mutation and isotype switching occur within GCs and are to a large extent dependent on help provided by CD4⁺ T cells and in particular on CD40L expressed by these T cells. CD40L-expressing T cells are generated by DCs early during the primary immune response, and cognate interaction between specific T and B cells also take place at an early stage. Based on the extraordinary capacity of DCs to modulate primary immune responses as well as on the possibility that DCs, T cells and B cells could interact simultaneously during the primary immune response (MacLennan *et al.*, 1997), Dubois et al (1997) addressed the direct effect of DCs on CD40L-activated B cells. Their results demonstrated that DCs generated *in vitro* from CD34⁺ precursors 1) strongly enhanced the CD40-dependent proliferation of B cells and 2) increased the CD40-dependent Ab-secretion form both naïve (IgM) and memory B cells (IgG and IgA) in the presence of IL-2. An *in vivo* relevance

for these results was further supported by the finding that human IDCs isolated from tonsil had similar effect on the B cells (Bjorck *et al.*, 1997). Subsequent studies revealed that DC-produced IL-12 was synergistic with added IL-2 in driving plasma cell differentiation from the naïve B cells in the cultures based on the CD34⁺-derived DCs (Dubois *et al.*, 1998).

In Paper I we continued the investigation of tonsillar IDCs in relation to CD40activated naïve B cells. Our results demonstrate that these $CD11c^+$ DCs cannot only elicit IgM production from naïve B cells but also directly trigger CD40dependent production of isotype switched IgG and IgA. These effects were strictly mediated by released molecules from the IDCs including IL-13 and possibly IL-6 and IL-10. We could not, however, detect secretion of IL-12 after CD40 stimulation (unpublished observations), suggesting that these cells at least partially differ from the *in vitro* generated DCs in the mechanism by which they promote B cell differentiation.



Figure 1 Human IDCs isolated from tonsil as described in Paper I. Cells were visualized by staining with an antibody against MCH class II

6 ANTIGEN-PRESENTATION BY B CELLS

While DCs evidently are superior to other APCs in their capability to prime naïve T cells, B cells have been described to completely lack such capacity (Lassila *et al.*, 1988). Even though this represent a controversial issue (Constant *et al.*, 1995; Morris *et al.*, 1994), the probability that a specific B cell should encounter a specific naïve T cell must be considered as extremely low. B cells and T cells are segregated in the lymphoid organ and physical interaction between these cells depends upon a deviation from their homeostatic distribution. Naïve T cells change their migratory behavior first after antigenspecific interaction with APCs, preferentially DCs, in the T cell zone. The physical interaction between specific T and B cells therefore occurs in the context of a sequential T cell priming and under these circumstances B cells can efficiently support T cell proliferation and differentiation (Fuchs and Matzinger, 1992; Harris *et al.*, 2000). They may even be essential for the development of fully differentiated effector and memory T cells (Falcone *et al.*, 1998; Linton *et al.*, 2000).

Follicular helper T cells

Although GCs are mostly considered in terms of B cell proliferation and differentiation, they can also harbor an extensive growth of CD4⁺ T cells which are specific for the immunizing antigen (Fuller *et al.*, 1993; Gulbranson-Judge and MacLennan, 1996). As mentioned in chapter 2 the early priming of naïve CD4⁺ T cells on DCs in the T cell zone gives rise to at least two separate T cell differentiation pathways. One pathway generates a rapid development of tissue-homing effector cells, producing preferentially IFN-γ. The other pathway directs apparently non-polarized T cells towards the follicles in a CXCR5-dependent manner (Campbell and Butcher, 2002; Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Kim *et al.*, 2001). When mice are immunized with soluble protein antigens mixed with adjuvant, the initial T cell zone associated T cell division is accompanied by follicular homing of CD4⁺CXCR5⁺ T cells. This is followed by a gradual redistribution of T cell-proliferation from the T cell zone to the growing GC (Ansel *et al.*, 1999; Gulbranson-Judge and MacLennan, 1996; Kearney *et al.*, 1994). In fact, during these circumstances, T cells proliferate only transiently in the inter-follicular

areas and at the peak of the response essentially all specific CD4⁺ T cells are localized to the GCs where they continuously undergo cell division. Thereafter, the number of specific T cells in the lymphoid tissue starts to decrease in spite of the fact that a substantial number of proliferating T cells still can be detected within the GCs (Gulbranson-Judge and MacLennan, 1996; Kearney *et al.*, 1994). This imbalance clearly suggests that GC-localized T cells ultimately make up a second source of tissue-homing T cells, which accordingly exhibit a delay in their migration towards the peripheral tissues.

The magnitude of the GC-associated T cell proliferation varies considerably between different antigens and immunization regimes. First, if protein antigens are immunized intravenously without adjuvant, T cells proliferate in the paracortex of lymph nodes but fail to enter the B cell follicles (Kearney et al., 1994). Although this protocol of immunization support the development of tissue-homing T cells, the overall response is short-lived and the few T cells which remain in the lymph nodes are refractory to a secondary antigenic challenge (Kearney et al., 1994; Reinhardt et al., 2001). The failure of T cells to enter the B cell follicles and the overall reduced T cell response, can both be explained by an insufficient maturation of DCs in the absence of microbial adjuvant (Ansel et al., 1999). Induction of CXCR5 expression on T cells depends upon costimulatory signals provided by DCs (Brocker et al., 1999; Flynn et al., 1998; Walker et al., 1999) and naïve T cells do not upregulate CXCR5 at high levels in response to TCR-triggering only (Schaerli et al., 2001). Secondly, the degree of GC-associated T cell proliferation can also to a large extent vary between two different antigens which both provoke the development of fully differentiated effector and memory T cells (Luther et al., 1997; Toellner et al., 1998).

Transmission of a reverse signal – a role for GC B cells in the Th2 development?

Th2 cells have for long been recognized as the most important Th cell subset in relation to B cell differentiation and GC development. However, this interpretation has mainly been based on *in vitro* studies of established Th1 and Th2 clones or on demonstrations of a prominent role of Th2-derived cytokines in supporting *in vitro* B cell differentiation and Ab production (Paul and Seder,

1994). More recently, it has however been demonstrated that *in vitro* polarized Th1 and Th2 cells are equally capable of supporting B cell clonal expansion and Ab production *in vivo* (Smith *et al.*, 2000). Even more important, the follicular Th cells arising *in vivo* during a primary immune response are neither Th1 nor Th2 cells. Instead, as previously mentioned, they appear to represent non-polarized T cells at the time when they make cognate interaction with specific B cells. A meaningful question to ask is therefore; how do the B cells influence the cytokine profile of the follicular Th cells?

Th1 polarization is strongly promoted by the presence of IL-12 that can be produced in large quantities by *e.g.* DCs and macrophages. The most important factor in the Th2 development is IL-4 (Kopf et al., 1993; Maggi et al., 1992; Shimoda et al., 1996). In Paper II we demonstrate that a predominant cellular source of IL-4 in human tonsil is the GC B cells. Based on this finding we suggested that GC B cells might be important for the Th2-development in vivo. In Paper IV we provide evidence for this suggestion by demonstrating that GC B cells can induce IL-4 and IL-13 production from CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*. Consistent to this finding, we also characterize a Th2 precursor cell subset in the tonsil that uniformly display a GC associated phenotype (*i.e.* high levels of CXCR5 expression). Taken together, paper II and IV reveal an important role for the GC B cells in the development of Th2 effector cells. These papers thus shed new light on previous investigations, delineating an inherent property of B cells to preferentially support Th2 polarization (Macaulay et al., 1997; Mason, 1996; Secrist et al., 1995; Stockinger et al., 1996). However, in contrast to these earlier works, we define (i) the mechanism by which the B cells instruct T cells to differentiate along the Th2 pathway and (ii) the physiological microenvironment in which the polarization process take place. GCs and GC B cells may accordingly be as important for the functional development of cytokine-producing T cells as the T cells are for the GC-associated B cell differentiation.

7 CONCLUDING REMARKS

This thesis is based upon four investigations addressing regulatory properties of DCs and B cells during adaptive immune responses. Both of these cell types can internalize, process, and present MHC class II associated antigens for CD4⁺ T cells but only DCs appear to be relevant APCs in the priming of naïve T cells. Two different reasons can explain the superior capacity of DCs, as compared to the B cells, to initiate primary T cell responses. First, DCs can mature into highly stimulatory APCs expressing high densities of MHC class II and costimulatory molecules. Even though also B cells upregulate these molecular entities the relative levels are seemingly not sufficiently high to prime naïve T cells. Secondly, the spatial and temporal nature of the primary immune response hinders the physical interaction between specific T and B cells unless the T cells not first are primed on DCs in the T cell zones of the lymphoid organs. Consequently, innate immunity and DCs are of critical importance when it comes to the triggering of the specific immune response.

Our data in paper I and III reinforce the important role of DCs during the early phase of adaptive immune responses and demonstrate that these innate cells directly can support also primary B cell responses. Moreover, in paper III we show that DCs potentially can trigger naïve T and B cells in the absence of pathogenic microbes since endogenously derived inflammatory agents can induce a comprehensive and sustained DC maturation. However, in contrast to their apparently unique function in the recruitment of the specific immune response, DCs are not the only cells participating in immune class regulation. The results presented in paper II and IV reveal how antigen-activated B cells within GCs instruct CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate along the Th2 pathway. Therefore Th cell polarization may be subjected to a counterbalanced regulation, where DC-produced IL-12 and/or IFN- α/β promote Th1-differentiation and B cell-produced IL-4 furnish the Th2-development. Considering that Th2 cells and the cytokines they secrete are essential for the pathogenesis of allergic diseases, these results may have implications on future allergy-related research.

8 POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Människans immunsystem utgörs av en komplex sammansättning av celler och molekyler, som interagerar med varandra men även med kroppens övriga vävnader. Dess huvudsakliga uppgift är att förse sin värd med ett försvar mot yttre och inre förhållanden, som kan orsaka denna skada, t.ex. bakterie- och virusinfektioner eller betingelser för utveckling av cancer. Denna försvarsaktivitet måste dock kontinuerligt balanseras på ett sådant sätt, att immunförsvaret inte angriper kroppsegna vävnader eller sätter igång reaktioner av onödig styrka eller missriktad karaktär. Immunförsvaret måste således uppvisa specificitet, aktiveras endast då uppenbara behov föreligger samt urskilja vilka försvarsmekanismer, som är lämpligast i varje enskilt fall. Vi kan t.ex. vanligtvis uthärda feber i samband med en maginfluensa men skulle knappast stå ut med motsvarande symptom varje gång vi åt. Detta påstående kan tyckas vara naivt, men för t.ex. en nötallergiker kan maten bli betydligt mer besvärande än en enkel maginfluensa.

B- och T-lymfocyter utgör de celler som ger immunförsvaret dess specificitet. Varje enskild lymfocyt har ett antal identiska och för den enskilda lymfocyten unika receptorer på sin yta. Dessa receptorer kan känna igen en unik substans (antigen). Under en pågående immunrespons aktiveras endast de lymfocyter, som bär receptorer som kan binda till det aktuella främmande ämnet, t.ex. ett virus. Dessa lymfocyter kommer att öka kraftigt i antal och därefter utsöndra molekyler, som kan neutralisera smittämnet (antigenet). B-lymfocyten utsöndrar antikroppar och T-lymfocyten speciella signalsubstanser, s.k. cytokiner. Cytokiner kan i sin tur aktivera andra av immunförsvarets celler (inklusive Blymfocyter), så att dessa också kan bidra till att eliminera det antigen, som utlöst reaktionen. Denna aktivering är alltså selektiv, och såväl B- som T-cellen bidrar till att endast vissa av immunförsvarets celler och molekyler rekryteras vid en given infektion.

Denna avhandling upptar fyra experimentella arbeten, i vilka olika mekanismer för reglering av B-cellens antikroppsproduktion och T-cellens cytokinproduktion har undersökts. B-cellers förmåga att styra T-celler har också studerats. Vidare har s.k. dendritiska celler analyserats i relation till hur dessa påverkar B- och T-cellers aktivitet. Slutsatser presenteras i de enskilda arbetena samt i den inledande summeringen av B-, T- och dendritiska cellers interaktioner under immunreaktioner.

9 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to all past and present colleagues at the Department of Immunotechnology.

I especially want to thank my supervisor, Professor Carl Borrebaeck, for always being enthusiastic and encouraging.

Camilla Ottosson, Katarina Dahlenborg, Sigurdur Ingvarsson, Anna Åkesson, Malin Lindstedt Åsa Schiött and Carl-Magnus Högerkorp. Thank you for stimulating teamwork and/or for all help with everything.

My sincere gratitude to Mats Ohlin for guiding me through a forest of immunoassays, for all helpful discussions and for needed criticism.

I also want to thank Pia Björck for guidance during my first years as a graduate student. All your e-mails with protocols, suggested readings and general information regarding the IDCs and immunohistochemistry are much appreciated.

To my parents, Mona and Lennart. Thank you for all your efforts and your support.

Finally, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my dear wife Kristina and our beloved boys Christoffer and Johannes. Thank you for all your patience and for having endured all these years of my time-consuming research.

10 REFERENCES

- Agarwal, S., and Rao, A. (1998). Modulation of chromatin structure regulates cytokine gene expression during T cell differentiation. Immunity *9*, 765-775.
- Ahearn, J. M., Fischer, M. B., Croix, D., Goerg, S., Ma, M., Xia, J., Zhou, X., Howard, R. G., Rothstein, T. L., and Carroll, M. C. (1996). Disruption of the Cr2 locus results in a reduction in B-1a cells and in an impaired B cell response to T-dependent antigen. Immunity 4, 251-262.
- Akdis, C. A., Blesken, T., Akdis, M., Wuthrich, B., and Blaser, K. (1998). Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. J Clin Invest 102, 98-106.
- Albert, M. L., Sauter, B., and Bhardwaj, N. (1998). Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I- restricted CTLs. Nature 392, 86-89.
- Alt, F. W., Oltz, E. M., Young, F., Gorman, J., Taccioli, G., and Chen, J. (1992). VDJ recombination. Immunol Today 13, 306-314.
- Ansel, K. M., McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., Ngo, V. N., McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., and Cyster, J. G. (1999). In vivo-activated CD4 T cells upregulate CXC chemokine receptor 5 and reprogram their response to lymphoid chemokines. J Exp Med 190, 1123-1134.
- Ansel, K. M., Ngo, V. N., Hyman, P. L., Luther, S. A., Forster, R., Sedgwick, J. D., Browning, J. L., Lipp, M., and Cyster, J. G. (2000). A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. Nature 406, 309-314.
- Arstila, T. P., Casrouge, A., Baron, V., Even, J., Kanellopoulos, J., and Kourilsky, P. (1999). A direct estimate of the human alphabeta T cell receptor diversity. Science 286, 958-961.
- Asselin-Paturel, C., Boonstra, A., Dalod, M., Durand, I., Yessaad, N., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., Vicari, A., O'Garra, A., Biron, C., Briere, F., and Trinchieri, G. (2001). Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology. Nat Immunol 2, 1144-1150.
- Bacchetta, R., Bigler, M., Touraine, J. L., Parkman, R., Tovo, P. A., Abrams, J., de Waal Malefyt, R., de Vries, J. E., and Roncarolo, M. G. (1994). High levels of interleukin 10 production *in vivo* are associated with tolerance in SCID patients transplanted with HLA mismatched hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 179, 493-502.
- Banchereau, J., Briere, F., Caux, C., Davoust, J., Lebecque, S., Liu, Y. J., Pulendran, B., and Palucka, K. (2000). Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 18, 767-811.
- Barrat, F. J., Cua, D. J., Boonstra, A., Richards, D. F., Crain, C., Savelkoul, H. F., de Waal-Malefyt, R., Coffman, R. L., Hawrylowicz, C. M., and O'Garra, A. (2002). *In vitro* generation of interleukin 10producing regulatory CD4(+) T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by T helper type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines. J Exp Med *195*, 603-616.
- Barton, G. M., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). Control of adaptive immune responses by Toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol 14, 380-383.
- Batista, F. D., and Neuberger, M. S. (2000). B cells extract and present immobilized antigen: implications for affinity discrimination. Embo J 19, 513-520.
- Berek, C., Berger, A., and Apel, M. (1991). Maturation of the immune response in germinal centers. Cell 67, 1121-1129.
- Bergthorsdottir, S., Gallagher, A., Jainandunsing, S., Cockayne, D., Sutton, J., Leanderson, T., and Gray, D. (2001). Signals that initiate somatic hypermutation of B cells *in vitro*. J Immunol *166*, 2228-2234.
- Bjorck, P. (2001). Isolation and characterization of plasmacytoid dendritic cells from Flt3 ligand and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor- treated mice. Blood *98*, 3520-3526.
- Bjorck, P., Flores-Romo, L., and Liu, Y. J. (1997). Human interdigitating dendritic cells directly stimulate CD40-activated naive B cells. Eur J Immunol 27, 1266-1274.
- Blanco, P., Palucka, A. K., Gill, M., Pascual, V., and Banchereau, J. (2001). Induction of dendritic cell differentiation by IFN-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. Science 294, 1540-1543.
- Blander, J. M., Sant'Angelo, D. B., Bottomly, K., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (2000). Alteration at a single amino acid residue in the T cell receptor alpha chain complementarity determining region 2 changes the differentiation of naive CD4 T cells in response to antigen from T helper cell type 1 (Th1) to Th2. J Exp Med *191*, 2065-2074.
- Blattman, J. N., Antia, R., Sourdive, D. J., Wang, X., Kaech, S. M., Murali-Krishna, K., Altman, J. D., and Ahmed, R. (2002). Estimating the precursor frequency of naive antigen-specific CD8 T cells. J Exp Med *195*, 657-664.
- Borkowski, T. A., Letterio, J. J., Farr, A. G., and Udey, M. C. (1996). A role for endogenous transforming growth factor beta 1 in Langerhans cell biology: the skin of transforming growth factor beta 1 null mice is devoid of epidermal Langerhans cells. J Exp Med *184*, 2417-2422.

- Brocker, T., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Flynn, S., Riedinger, M., Raykundalia, C., and Lane, P. (1999). CD4 T cell traffic control: *in vivo* evidence that ligation of OX40 on CD4 T cells by OX40-ligand expressed on dendritic cells leads to the accumulation of CD4 T cells in B follicles. Eur J Immunol *29*, 1610-1616.
- Bross, L., Fukita, Y., McBlane, F., Demolliere, C., Rajewsky, K., and Jacobs, H. (2000). DNA double-strand breaks in immunoglobulin genes undergoing somatic hypermutation. Immunity 13, 589-597.
- Burnet, F. M. (1959). The clonal selection theory of acquired immunity. London, Cambridge University Press. Burton, G. F., Conrad, D. H., Szakal, A. K., and Tew, J. G. (1993). Follicular dendritic cells and B cell
 - costimulation. J Immunol 150, 31-38.
- Campbell, D. J., and Butcher, E. C. (2002). Rapid acquisition of tissue-specific homing phenotypes by CD4(+) T cells activated in cutaneous or mucosal lymphoid tissues. J Exp Med *195*, 135-141.
- Campbell, D. J., Kim, C. H., and Butcher, E. C. (2001). Separable effector T cell populations specialized for B cell help or tissue inflammation. Nat Immunol *2*, 876-881.
- Campbell, J. J., Bowman, E. P., Murphy, K., Youngman, K. R., Siani, M. A., Thompson, D. A., Wu, L., Zlotnik, A., and Butcher, E. C. (1998). 6-C-kine (SLC), a lymphocyte adhesion-triggering chemokine expressed by high endothelium, is an agonist for the MIP-3beta receptor CCR7. J Cell Biol 141, 1053-1059.
- Cario, E., and Podolsky, D. K. (2000). Differential alteration in intestinal epithelial cell expression of toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TLR4 in inflammatory bowel disease. Infect Immun *68*, 7010-7017.
- Casamayor-Palleja, M., Mondiere, P., Verschelde, C., Bella, C., and Defrance, T. (2002). BCR ligation reprograms B cells for migration to the T zone and B-cell follicle sequentially. Blood *99*, 1913-1921.
- Castigli, E., Alt, F. W., Davidson, L., Bottaro, A., Mizoguchi, E., Bhan, A. K., and Geha, R. S. (1994). CD40deficient mice generated by recombination-activating gene-2- deficient blastocyst complementation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 12135-12139.
- Caux, C., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B., Dubois, B., Durand, I., Cella, M., Lanzavecchia, A., and Banchereau, J. (1997). CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors from human cord blood differentiate along two independent dendritic cell pathways in response to granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus tumor necrosis factor alpha: II. Functional analysis. Blood *90*, 1458-1470.
- Caux, C., Vanbervliet, B., Massacrier, C., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., de Saint-Vis, B., Jacquet, C., Yoneda, K., Imamura, S., Schmitt, D., and Banchereau, J. (1996). CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors from human cord blood differentiate along two independent dendritic cell pathways in response to GM-CSF+TNF alpha. J Exp Med 184, 695-706.
- Cella, M., Facchetti, F., Lanzavecchia, A., and Colonna, M. (2000). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by influenza virus and CD40L drive a potent TH1 polarization. Nat Immunol *1*, 305-310.
- Cella, M., Jarrossay, D., Facchetti, F., Alebardi, O., Nakajima, H., Lanzavecchia, A., and Colonna, M. (1999). Plasmacytoid monocytes migrate to inflamed lymph nodes and produce large amounts of type I interferon. Nat Med 5, 919-923.
- Cella, M., Scheidegger, D., Palmer-Lehmann, K., Lane, P., Lanzavecchia, A., and Alber, G. (1996). Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. J Exp Med *184*, 747-752.
- Cerio, R., Griffiths, C. E., Cooper, K. D., Nickoloff, B. J., and Headington, J. T. (1989). Characterization of factor XIIIa positive dermal dendritic cells in normal and inflamed skin. Br J Dermatol *121*, 421-431.
- Comeau, M. R., Van Der Vuurst De Vries, A. R., Maliszewski, C. R., and Galibert, L. (2002). CD123(bright) Plasmacytoid Predendritic Cells: Progenitors Undergoing Cell Fate Conversion? J Immunol *169*, 75-83.
- Constant, S., Schweitzer, N., West, J., Ranney, P., and Bottomly, K. (1995). B lymphocytes can be competent antigen-presenting cells for priming CD4+ T cells to protein antigens *in vivo*. J Immunol *155*, 3734-3741.
- Corry, D. B., and Kheradmand, F. (1999). Induction and regulation of the IgE response. Nature 402, B18-23.
- Croix, D. A., Ahearn, J. M., Rosengard, A. M., Han, S., Kelsoe, G., Ma, M., and Carroll, M. C. (1996). Antibody response to a T-dependent antigen requires B cell expression of complement receptors. J Exp Med *183*, 1857-1864.
- Cyster, J. G. (1999). Chemokines and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. Science 286, 2098-2102.
- d'Ostiani, C. F., Del Sero, G., Bacci, A., Montagnoli, C., Spreca, A., Mencacci, A., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., and Romani, L. (2000). Dendritic cells discriminate between yeasts and hyphae of the fungus Candida albicans. Implications for initiation of T helper cell immunity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Exp Med *191*, 1661-1674.
- Dalod, M., Salazar-Mather, T. P., Malmgaard, L., Lewis, C., Asselin-Paturel, C., Briere, F., Trinchieri, G., and Biron, C. A. (2002). Interferon alpha/beta and interleukin 12 responses to viral infections: pathways regulating dendritic cell cytokine expression *in vivo*. J Exp Med 195, 517-528.
- Davis, M. M., and Bjorkman, P. J. (1988). T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. Nature 334, 395-402.
- de Vinuesa, C. G., Cook, M. C., Ball, J., Drew, M., Sunners, Y., Cascalho, M., Wabl, M., Klaus, G. G., and MacLennan, I. C. (2000). Germinal centers without T cells. J Exp Med *191*, 485-494.

- Dempsey, P. W., Allison, M. E., Akkaraju, S., Goodnow, C. C., and Fearon, D. T. (1996). C3d of complement as a molecular adjuvant: bridging innate and acquired immunity. Science 271, 348-350.
- Diamond, G., Legarda, D., and Ryan, L. K. (2000). The innate immune response of the respiratory epithelium. Immunol Rev 173, 27-38.

Dubois, B., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B., Fayette, J., Briere, F., Banchereau, J., and Caux, C. (1998). Critical role of IL-12 in dendritic cell-induced differentiation of naive B lymphocytes. J Immunol *161*, 2223-2231.

- Dubois, B., Vanbervliet, B., Fayette, J., Massacrier, C., Van Kooten, C., Briere, F., Banchereau, J., and Caux, C. (1997). Dendritic cells enhance growth and differentiation of CD40-activated B lymphocytes. J Exp Med 185, 941-951.
- Engering, A., Geijtenbeek, T. B., van Vliet, S. J., Wijers, M., van Liempt, E., Demaurex, N., Lanzavecchia, A., Fransen, J., Figdor, C. G., Piguet, V., and van Kooyk, Y. (2002). The dendritic cell-specific adhesion receptor DC-SIGN internalizes antigen for presentation to T cells. J Immunol *168*, 2118-2126.
- Facchetti, F., de Wolf-Peeters, C., Mason, D. Y., Pulford, K., van den Oord, J. J., and Desmet, V. J. (1988). Plasmacytoid T cells. Immunohistochemical evidence for their monocyte/macrophage origin. Am J Pathol 133, 15-21.
- Falcone, M., Lee, J., Patstone, G., Yeung, B., and Sarvetnick, N. (1998). B lymphocytes are crucial antigenpresenting cells in the pathogenic autoimmune response to GAD65 antigen in nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol 161, 1163-1168.
- Fang, Y., Xu, C., Fu, Y. X., Holers, V. M., and Molina, H. (1998). Expression of complement receptors 1 and 2 on follicular dendritic cells is necessary for the generation of a strong antigen-specific IgG response. J Immunol 160, 5273-5279.
- Fanger, N. A., Voigtlaender, D., Liu, C., Swink, S., Wardwell, K., Fisher, J., Graziano, R. F., Pfefferkorn, L. C., and Guyre, P. M. (1997). Characterization of expression, cytokine regulation, and effector function of the high affinity IgG receptor Fc gamma RI (CD64) expressed on human blood dendritic cells. J Immunol 158, 3090-3098.
- Farkas, L., Beiske, K., Lund-Johansen, F., Brandtzaeg, P., and Jahnsen, F. L. (2001). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (natural interferon- alpha/beta-producing cells) accumulate in cutaneous lupus erythematosus lesions. Am J Pathol 159, 237-243.
- Ferguson, S. E., Han, S., Kelsoe, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1996). CD28 is required for germinal center formation. J Immunol 156, 4576-4581.
- Finkelman, F. D., Shea-Donohue, T., Goldhill, J., Sullivan, C. A., Morris, S. C., Madden, K. B., Gause, W. C., and Urban, J. F., Jr. (1997). Cytokine regulation of host defense against parasitic gastrointestinal nematodes: lessons from studies with rodent models. Annu Rev Immunol 15, 505-533.
- Fischer, M. B., Goerg, S., Shen, L., Prodeus, A. P., Goodnow, C. C., Kelsoe, G., and Carroll, M. C. (1998). Dependence of germinal center B cells on expression of CD21/CD35 for survival. Science 280, 582-585.
- Fithian, E., Kung, P., Goldstein, G., Rubenfeld, M., Fenoglio, C., and Edelson, R. (1981). Reactivity of Langerhans cells with hybridoma antibody. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78, 2541-2544.
- Flynn, S., Toellner, K. M., Raykundalia, C., Goodall, M., and Lane, P. (1998). CD4 T cell cytokine differentiation: the B cell activation molecule, OX40 ligand, instructs CD4 T cells to express interleukin 4 and upregulates expression of the chemokine receptor, Blr-1. J Exp Med 188, 297-304.
- Forster, R., Mattis, A. E., Kremmer, E., Wolf, E., Brem, G., and Lipp, M. (1996). A putative chemokine receptor, BLR1, directs B cell migration to defined lymphoid organs and specific anatomic compartments of the spleen. Cell 87, 1037-1047.
- Forster, R., Schubel, A., Breitfeld, D., Kremmer, E., Renner-Muller, I., Wolf, E., and Lipp, M. (1999). CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. Cell 99, 23-33.
- Fossum, S. (1988). Lymph-borne dendritic leucocytes do not recirculate, but enter the lymph node paracortex to become interdigitating cells. Scand J Immunol 27, 97-105.
- Fournier, S., Rathmell, J. C., Goodnow, C. C., and Allison, J. P. (1997). T cell-mediated elimination of B7.2 transgenic B cells. Immunity *6*, 327-339.
- Foy, T. M., Laman, J. D., Ledbetter, J. A., Aruffo, A., Claassen, E., and Noelle, R. J. (1994). gp39-CD40 interactions are essential for germinal center formation and the development of B cell memory. J Exp Med 180, 157-163.
- Fuchs, E. J., and Matzinger, P. (1992). B cells turn off virgin but not memory T cells. Science 258, 1156-1159.
- Fuller, K. A., Kanagawa, O., and Nahm, M. H. (1993). T cells within germinal centers are specific for the immunizing antigen. J Immunol 151, 4505-4512.
- Gallucci, S., and Matzinger, P. (2001). Danger signals: SOS to the immune system. Curr Opin Immunol 13, 114-119.
- Garside, P., Ingulli, E., Merica, R. R., Johnson, J. G., Noelle, R. J., and Jenkins, M. K. (1998). Visualization of specific B and T lymphocyte interactions in the lymph node. Science 281, 96-99.

- Geijtenbeek, T. B., Torensma, R., van Vliet, S. J., van Duijnhoven, G. C., Adema, G. J., van Kooyk, Y., and Figdor, C. G. (2000). Identification of DC-SIGN, a novel dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 receptor that supports primary immune responses. Cell 100, 575-585.
- Geissmann, F., Prost, C., Monnet, J. P., Dy, M., Brousse, N., and Hermine, O. (1998). Transforming growth factor beta1, in the presence of granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interleukin 4, induces differentiation of human peripheral blood monocytes into dendritic Langerhans cells. J Exp Med *187*, 961-966.
- Gilliet, M., and Liu, Y. J. (2002). Generation of human CD8 T regulatory cells by CD40 ligand-activated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med *195*, 695-704.
- Granucci, F., Vizzardelli, C., Virzi, E., Rescigno, M., and Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P. (2001). Transcriptional reprogramming of dendritic cells by differentiation stimuli. Eur J Immunol *31*, 2539-2546.
- Gray, D. (1994). Regulation of immunological memory. Curr Opin Immunol 6, 425-430.
- Gray, D., Dullforce, P., and Jainandunsing, S. (1994). Memory B cell development but not germinal center formation is impaired by *in vivo* blockade of CD40-CD40 ligand interaction. J Exp Med *180*, 141-155.
- Green, I., Stingl, G., Shevach, E. M., and Katz, S. I. (1980). Antigen presentation and allogeneic stimulation by Langerhans cells. J Invest Dermatol 75, 44-45.
- Grogan, J. L., Mohrs, M., Harmon, B., Lacy, D. A., Sedat, J. W., and Locksley, R. M. (2001). Early transcription and silencing of cytokine genes underlie polarization of T helper cell subsets. Immunity 14, 205-215.
- Grouard, G., Rissoan, M. C., Filgueira, L., Durand, I., Banchereau, J., and Liu, Y. J. (1997). The enigmatic plasmacytoid T cells develop into dendritic cells with interleukin (IL)-3 and CD40-ligand. J Exp Med *185*, 1101-1111.
- Groux, H. (2001). An overview of regulatory T cells. Microbes Infect 3, 883-889.
- Groux, H., O'Garra, A., Bigler, M., Rouleau, M., Antonenko, S., de Vries, J. E., and Roncarolo, M. G. (1997). A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. Nature *389*, 737-742.
- Guermonprez, P., Valladeau, J., Zitvogel, L., Thery, C., and Amigorena, S. (2002). Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 20, 621-667.
- Gulbranson-Judge, A., and MacLennan, I. (1996). Sequential antigen-specific growth of T cells in the T zones and follicles in response to pigeon cytochrome c. Eur J Immunol 26, 1830-1837.
- Gunn, M. D., Ngo, V. N., Ansel, K. M., Ekland, E. H., Cyster, J. G., and Williams, L. T. (1998a). A B-cellhoming chemokine made in lymphoid follicles activates Burkitt's lymphoma receptor-1. Nature *391*, 799-803.
- Gunn, M. D., Tangemann, K., Tam, C., Cyster, J. G., Rosen, S. D., and Williams, L. T. (1998b). A chemokine expressed in lymphoid high endothelial venules promotes the adhesion and chemotaxis of naive T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 258-263.
- Gustavsson, S., Kinoshita, T., and Heyman, B. (1995). Antibodies to murine complement receptor 1 and 2 can inhibit the antibody response *in vivo* without inhibiting T helper cell induction. J Immunol *154*, 6524-6528.
- Hannum, L. G., Haberman, A. M., Anderson, S. M., and Shlomchik, M. J. (2000). Germinal center initiation, variable gene region hypermutation, and mutant B cell selection without detectable immune complexes on follicular dendritic cells. J Exp Med 192, 931-942.
- Harriman, W., Volk, H., Defranoux, N., and Wabl, M. (1993). Immunoglobulin class switch recombination. Annu Rev Immunol 11, 361-384.
- Harris, D. P., Haynes, L., Sayles, P. C., Duso, D. K., Eaton, S. M., Lepak, N. M., Johnson, L. L., Swain, S. L., and Lund, F. E. (2000). Reciprocal regulation of polarized cytokine production by effector B and T cells. Nat Immunol 1, 475-482.
- Hawiger, D., Inaba, K., Dorsett, Y., Guo, M., Mahnke, K., Rivera, M., Ravetch, J. V., Steinman, R. M., and Nussenzweig, M. C. (2001). Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions *in vivo*. J Exp Med 194, 769-779.
- Heath, W. R., and Carbone, F. R. (2001). Cross-presentation, dendritic cells, tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 19, 47-64.
- Hebell, T., Ahearn, J. M., and Fearon, D. T. (1991). Suppression of the immune response by a soluble complement receptor of B lymphocytes. Science 254, 102-105.
- Henson, P. M., Bratton, D. L., and Fadok, V. A. (2001). The phosphatidylserine receptor: a crucial molecular switch? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *2*, 627-633.
- Heyman, B. (2000). Regulation of antibody responses via antibodies, complement, and Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 18, 709-737.
- Heyman, B., Pilstrom, L., and Shulman, M. J. (1988). Complement activation is required for IgM-mediated enhancement of the antibody response. J Exp Med *167*, 1999-2004.
- Heyman, B., Wiersma, E. J., and Kinoshita, T. (1990). *In vivo* inhibition of the antibody response by a complement receptor- specific monoclonal antibody. J Exp Med *172*, 665-668.

- Hornung, V., Rothenfusser, S., Britsch, S., Krug, A., Jahrsdorfer, B., Giese, T., Endres, S., and Hartmann, G. (2002). Quantitative expression of toll-like receptor 1-10 mRNA in cellular subsets of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and sensitivity to CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 168, 4531-4537.
- Huang, F. P., Platt, N., Wykes, M., Major, J. R., Powell, T. J., Jenkins, C. D., and MacPherson, G. G. (2000). A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. J Exp Med 191, 435-444.
- Huang, Q., Liu, D., Majewski, P., Schulte, L. C., Korn, J. M., Young, R. A., Lander, E. S., and Hacohen, N. (2001). The plasticity of dendritic cell responses to pathogens and their components. Science 294, 870-875.
- Inaba, K., Witmer-Pack, M., Inaba, M., Hathcock, K. S., Sakuta, H., Azuma, M., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., Linsley, P. S., Ikehara, S., and *et al.* (1994). The tissue distribution of the B7-2 costimulator in mice: abundant expression on dendritic cells in situ and during maturation *in vitro*. J Exp Med 180, 1849-1860.
- Ingulli, E., Mondino, A., Khoruts, A., and Jenkins, M. K. (1997). *In vivo* detection of dendritic cell antigen presentation to CD4(+) T cells. J Exp Med *185*, 2133-2141.
- Ito, T., Inaba, M., Inaba, K., Toki, J., Sogo, S., Iguchi, T., Adachi, Y., Yamaguchi, K., Amakawa, R., Valladeau, J., et al. (1999). A CD1a+/CD11c+ subset of human blood dendritic cells is a direct precursor of Langerhans cells. J Immunol 163, 1409-1419.
- Iwasaki, A., and Kelsall, B. L. (2000). Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine. J Exp Med 191, 1381-1394.
- Iwasaki, A., and Kelsall, B. L. (2001). Unique functions of CD11b+, CD8 alpha+, and double-negative Peyer's patch dendritic cells. J Immunol *166*, 4884-4890.
- Jacob, J., and Kelsoe, G. (1992). In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3nitrophenyl)acetyl. II. A common clonal origin for periarteriolar lymphoid sheath-associated foci and germinal centers. J Exp Med *176*, 679-687.
- Jacob, J., Kelsoe, G., Rajewsky, K., and Weiss, U. (1991). Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. Nature *354*, 389-392.
- Jacobson, E. B., Caporale, L. H., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1974). Effect of thymus cell injections on germinal center formation in lymphoid tissues of nude (thymusless) mice. Cell Immunol *13*, 416-430.
- Jahnsen, F. L., Lund-Johansen, F., Dunne, J. F., Farkas, L., Haye, R., and Brandtzaeg, P. (2000). Experimentally induced recruitment of plasmacytoid (CD123high) dendritic cells in human nasal allergy. J Immunol *165*, 4062-4068.
- Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1992). The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. Immunol Today 13, 11-16.
- Janeway, C. A., Jr., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20, 197-216.
- Jarrossay, D., Napolitani, G., Colonna, M., Sallusto, F., and Lanzavecchia, A. (2001). Specialization and complementarity in microbial molecule recognition by human myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol *31*, 3388-3393.
- Jenkins, M. K., and Schwartz, R. H. (1987). Antigen presentation by chemically modified splenocytes induces antigen- specific T cell unresponsiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Exp Med *165*, 302-319.
- Jiang, W., Swiggard, W. J., Heufler, C., Peng, M., Mirza, A., Steinman, R. M., and Nussenzweig, M. C. (1995). The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. Nature 375, 151-155.
- Julia, V., Hessel, E. M., Malherbe, L., Glaichenhaus, N., O'Garra, A., and Coffman, R. L. (2002). A restricted subset of dendritic cells captures airborne antigens and remains able to activate specific T cells long after antigen exposure. Immunity *16*, 271-283.
- Kadowaki, N., Antonenko, S., Lau, J. Y., and Liu, Y. J. (2000). Natural interferon alpha/beta-producing cells link innate and adaptive immunity. J Exp Med *192*, 219-226.
- Kadowaki, N., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Malefyt, R. W., Kastelein, R. A., Bazan, F., and Liu, Y. J. (2001). Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. J Exp Med 194, 863-869.
- Kalinski, P., Schuitemaker, J. H., Hilkens, C. M., Wierenga, E. A., and Kapsenberg, M. L. (1999). Final maturation of dendritic cells is associated with impaired responsiveness to IFN-gamma and to bacterial IL-12 inducers: decreased ability of mature dendritic cells to produce IL-12 during the interaction with Th cells. J Immunol 162, 3231-3236.
- Kamperdijk, E. W., Raaymakers, E. M., de Leeuw, J. H., and Hoefsmit, E. C. (1978). Lymph node macrophages and reticulum cells in the immune response. I. The primary response to paratyphoid vaccine. Cell Tissue Res 192, 1-23.
- Kapsenberg, M. L., Wierenga, E. A., Bos, J. D., and Jansen, H. M. (1991). Functional subsets of allergenreactive human CD4+ T cells. Immunol Today 12, 392-395.

- Kawabe, T., Naka, T., Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Fujiwara, H., Suematsu, S., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Kikutani, H. (1994). The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. Immunity 1, 167-178.
- Kawai, T., Adachi, O., Ogawa, T., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (1999). Unresponsiveness of MyD88-deficient mice to endotoxin. Immunity 11, 115-122.
- Kearney, E. R., Pape, K. A., Loh, D. Y., and Jenkins, M. K. (1994). Visualization of peptide-specific T cell immunity and peripheral tolerance induction *in vivo*. Immunity 1, 327-339.
- Kim, C. H., Campbell, D. J., and Butcher, E. C. (2001). Nonpolarized memory T cells. Trends Immunol 22, 527-530.
- Kopf, M., Le Gros, G., Bachmann, M., Lamers, M. C., Bluethmann, H., and Kohler, G. (1993). Disruption of the murine IL-4 gene blocks Th2 cytokine responses. Nature 362, 245-248.
- Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., Gray, D., Scheidegger, D., and Julius, M. (1993). Follicular dendritic cells help resting B cells to become effective antigen-presenting cells: induction of B7/BB1 and upregulation of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. J Exp Med *178*, 2055-2066.
- Kripke, M. L., Munn, C. G., Jeevan, A., Tang, J. M., and Bucana, C. (1990). Evidence that cutaneous antigenpresenting cells migrate to regional lymph nodes during contact sensitization. J Immunol 145, 2833-2838.
- Krug, A., Towarowski, A., Britsch, S., Rothenfusser, S., Hornung, V., Bals, R., Giese, T., Engelmann, H., Endres, S., Krieg, A. M., and Hartmann, G. (2001). Toll-like receptor expression reveals CpG DNA as a unique microbial stimulus for plasmacytoid dendritic cells which synergizes with CD40 ligand to induce high amounts of IL-12. Eur J Immunol 31, 3026-3037.
- Kuwana, M., Kaburaki, J., Wright, T. M., Kawakami, Y., and Ikeda, Y. (2001). Induction of antigen-specific human CD4(+) T cell anergy by peripheral blood DC2 precursors. Eur J Immunol *31*, 2547-2557.
- Langenkamp, A., Messi, M., Lanzavecchia, A., and Sallusto, F. (2000). Kinetics of dendritic cell activation: impact on priming of TH1, TH2 and nonpolarized T cells. Nat Immunol *1*, 311-316.
- Langerhans, P. (1868). Über die Nerven der menschlichen Haut. Virchows Arch. (Pathol. Arch.) 44, 325-337
- Lanzavecchia, A., Lezzi, G., and Viola, A. (1999). From TCR engagement to T cell activation: a kinetic view of T cell behavior. Cell 96, 1-4.
- Larsen, C. P., Ritchie, S. C., Pearson, T. C., Linsley, P. S., and Lowry, R. P. (1992). Functional expression of the costimulatory molecule, B7/BB1, on murine dendritic cell populations. J Exp Med *176*, 1215-1220.
- Lassila, O., Vainio, O., and Matzinger, P. (1988). Can B cells turn on virgin T cells? Nature 334, 253-255.
- Le Bon, A., Schiavoni, G., D'Agostino, G., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., and Tough, D. F. (2001). Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells *in vivo*. Immunity *14*, 461-470.
- Lebecque, S., de Bouteiller, O., Arpin, C., Banchereau, J., and Liu, Y. J. (1997). Germinal center founder cells display propensity for apoptosis before onset of somatic mutation. J Exp Med *185*, 563-571.
- Lee, S. K., Pestano, G. A., Riley, J., Hasan, A. S., Pezzano, M., Samms, M., Park, K. J., Guyden, J., and Boto, W. M. (2000). A single point mutation in HIV-1 V3 loop alters the immunogenic properties of rgp120. Arch Virol 145, 2087-2103.
- Legler, D. F., Loetscher, M., Roos, R. S., Clark-Lewis, I., Baggiolini, M., and Moser, B. (1998). B cell-attracting chemokine 1, a human CXC chemokine expressed in lymphoid tissues, selectively attracts B lymphocytes via BLR1/CXCR5. J Exp Med 187, 655-660.
- Li, L., Zhang, X., Kovacic, S., Long, A. J., Bourque, K., Wood, C. R., and Choi, Y. S. (2000). Identification of a human follicular dendritic cell molecule that stimulates germinal center B cell growth. J Exp Med 191, 1077-1084.
- Linton, P. J., Harbertson, J., and Bradley, L. M. (2000). A critical role for B cells in the development of memory CD4 cells. J Immunol *165*, 5558-5565.
- Liu, Y., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1991). Microbial induction of co-stimulatory activity for CD4 T-cell growth. Int Immunol *3*, 323-332.
- Liu, Y. J. (2001). Dendritic cell subsets and lineages, and their functions in innate and adaptive immunity. Cell *106*, 259-262.
- Liu, Y. J., de Bouteiller, O., and Fugier-Vivier, I. (1997). Mechanisms of selection and differentiation in germinal centers. Curr Opin Immunol *9*, 256-262.
- Liu, Y. J., Joshua, D. E., Williams, G. T., Smith, C. A., Gordon, J., and MacLennan, I. C. (1989). Mechanism of antigen-driven selection in germinal centres. Nature 342, 929-931.
- Liu, Y. J., Kanzler, H., Soumelis, V., and Gilliet, M. (2001). Dendritic cell lineage, plasticity and crossregulation. Nat Immunol 2, 585-589.
- Liu, Y. J., Malisan, F., de Bouteiller, O., Guret, C., Lebecque, S., Banchereau, J., Mills, F. C., Max, E. E., and Martinez-Valdez, H. (1996). Within germinal centers, isotype switching of immunoglobulin genes occurs after the onset of somatic mutation. Immunity *4*, 241-250.

- Liu, Y. J., Zhang, J., Lane, P. J., Chan, E. Y., and MacLennan, I. C. (1991). Sites of specific B cell activation in primary and secondary responses to T cell-dependent and T cell-independent antigens. Eur J Immunol *21*, 2951-2962.
- Louis, J., Himmelrich, H., Parra-Lopez, C., Tacchini-Cottier, F., and Launois, P. (1998). Regulation of protective immunity against Leishmania major in mice. Curr Opin Immunol *10*, 459-464.
- Luther, S. A., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Acha-Orbea, H., and MacLennan, I. C. (1997). Viral superantigen drives extrafollicular and follicular B cell differentiation leading to virus-specific antibody production. J Exp Med *185*, 551-562.
- Macatonia, S. E., Hosken, N. A., Litton, M., Vieira, P., Hsieh, C. S., Culpepper, J. A., Wysocka, M., Trinchieri, G., Murphy, K. M., and O'Garra, A. (1995). Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 154, 5071-5079.
- Macatonia, S. E., Knight, S. C., Edwards, A. J., Griffiths, S., and Fryer, P. (1987). Localization of antigen on lymph node dendritic cells after exposure to the contact sensitizer fluorescein isothiocyanate. Functional and morphological studies. J Exp Med *166*, 1654-1667.
- Macaulay, A. E., DeKruyff, R. H., Goodnow, C. C., and Umetsu, D. T. (1997). Antigen-specific B cells preferentially induce CD4+ T cells to produce IL-4. J Immunol *158*, 4171-4179.
- MacDonald, A. S., and Pearce, E. J. (2002). Cutting edge: polarized Th cell response induction by transferred antigen-pulsed dendritic cells is dependent on IL-4 or IL-12 production by recipient cells. J Immunol *168*, 3127-3130.
- MacLennan, I. C., and Gray, D. (1986). Antigen-driven selection of virgin and memory B cells. Immunol Rev 91, 61-85.
- MacLennan, I. C., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Toellner, K. M., Casamayor-Palleja, M., Chan, E., Sze, D. M., Luther, S. A., and Orbea, H. A. (1997). The changing preference of T and B cells for partners as T-dependent antibody responses develop. Immunol Rev 156, 53-66.
- Maggi, E., Parronchi, P., Manetti, R., Simonelli, C., Piccinni, M. P., Rugiu, F. S., De Carli, M., Ricci, M., and Romagnani, S. (1992). Reciprocal regulatory effects of IFN-gamma and IL-4 on the *in vitro* development of human Th1 and Th2 clones. J Immunol *148*, 2142-2147.
- Maryanski, J. L., Jongeneel, C. V., Bucher, P., Casanova, J. L., and Walker, P. R. (1996). Single-cell PCR analysis of TCR repertoires selected by antigen *in vivo*: a high magnitude CD8 response is comprised of very few clones. Immunity *4*, 47-55.
- Mason, D. (1996). The role of B cells in the programming of T cells for IL-4 synthesis. J Exp Med 183, 717-719.

Matzinger, P. (1994). Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol 12, 991-1045.

- McAdam, A. J., Greenwald, R. J., Levin, M. A., Chernova, T., Malenkovich, N., Ling, V., Freeman, G. J., and Sharpe, A. H. (2001). ICOS is critical for CD40-mediated antibody class switching. Nature 409, 102-105.
- McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., McLean, M. J., Lalor, P. A., and Nossal, G. J. (1993). Antigen-driven B cell differentiation *in vivo*. J Exp Med *178*, 295-307.
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1997). A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature *388*, 394-397.
- Moll, H., Fuchs, H., Blank, C., and Rollinghoff, M. (1993). Langerhans cells transport Leishmania major from the infected skin to the draining lymph node for presentation to antigen-specific T cells. Eur J Immunol 23, 1595-1601.
- Morris, S. C., Lees, A., and Finkelman, F. D. (1994). *In vivo* activation of naive T cells by antigen-presenting B cells. J Immunol *152*, 3777-3785.
- Mosmann, T. R., Cherwinski, H., Bond, M. W., Giedlin, M. A., and Coffman, R. L. (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136, 2348-2357.
- Mostov, K. E. (1994). Transepithelial transport of immunoglobulins. Annu Rev Immunol 12, 63-84.
- Muramatsu, M., Kinoshita, K., Fagarasan, S., Yamada, S., Shinkai, Y., and Honjo, T. (2000). Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. Cell *102*, 553-563.
- Muramatsu, M., Sankaranand, V. S., Anant, S., Sugai, M., Kinoshita, K., Davidson, N. O., and Honjo, T. (1999). Specific expression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a novel member of the RNA-editing deaminase family in germinal center B cells. J Biol Chem 274, 18470-18476.
- Murphy, E., Shibuya, K., Hosken, N., Openshaw, P., Maino, V., Davis, K., Murphy, K., and O'Garra, A. (1996). Reversibility of T helper 1 and 2 populations is lost after long-term stimulation. J Exp Med *183*, 901-913.
- Nakano, H., Yanagita, M., and Gunn, M. D. (2001). CD11c(+)B220(+)Gr-1(+) cells in mouse lymph nodes and spleen display characteristics of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med *194*, 1171-1178.
- Nestle, F. O., Zheng, X. G., Thompson, C. B., Turka, L. A., and Nickoloff, B. J. (1993). Characterization of dermal dendritic cells obtained from normal human skin reveals phenotypic and functionally distinctive subsets. J Immunol 151, 6535-6545.

- Neutra, M. R., Pringault, E., and Kraehenbuhl, J. P. (1996). Antigen sampling across epithelial barriers and induction of mucosal immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 14, 275-300.
- Ngo, V. N., Korner, H., Gunn, M. D., Schmidt, K. N., Riminton, D. S., Cooper, M. D., Browning, J. L., Sedgwick, J. D., and Cyster, J. G. (1999). Lymphotoxin alpha/beta and tumor necrosis factor are required for stromal cell expression of homing chemokines in B and T cell areas of the spleen. J Exp Med *189*, 403-412.
- Ohlin, M., and Borrebaeck, C. A. (1998). Insertions and deletions in hypervariable loops of antibody heavy chains contribute to molecular diversity. Mol Immunol *35*, 233-238.
- Okada, T., Ngo, V. N., Ekland, E. H., Forster, R., Lipp, M., Littman, D. R., and Cyster, J. G. (2002). Chemokine requirements for B cell entry to lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. J Exp Med 196, 65-75.
- Olweus, J., BitMansour, A., Warnke, R., Thompson, P. A., Carballido, J., Picker, L. J., and Lund-Johansen, F. (1997). Dendritic cell ontogeny: a human dendritic cell lineage of myeloid origin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 12551-12556.
- Panina-Bordignon, P., Papi, A., Mariani, M., Di Lucia, P., Casoni, G., Bellettato, C., Buonsanti, C., Miotto, D., Mapp, C., Villa, A., *et al.* (2001). The C-C chemokine receptors CCR4 and CCR8 identify airway T cells of allergen-challenged atopic asthmatics. J Clin Invest 107, 1357-1364.
- Parronchi, P., Brugnolo, F., Annunziato, F., Manuelli, C., Sampognaro, S., Mavilia, C., Romagnani, S., and Maggi, E. (1999). Phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides promote the *in vitro* development of human allergen-specific CD4+ T cells into Th1 effectors. J Immunol 163, 5946-5953.
- Parronchi, P., Macchia, D., Piccinni, M. P., Biswas, P., Simonelli, C., Maggi, E., Ricci, M., Ansari, A. A., and Romagnani, S. (1991). Allergen- and bacterial antigen-specific T-cell clones established from atopic donors show a different profile of cytokine production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 4538-4542.
- Parronchi, P., Sampognaro, S., Annunziato, F., Brugnolo, F., Radbruch, A., Di Modugno, F., Ruffilli, A., Romagnani, S., and Maggi, E. (1998). Influence of both TCR repertoire and severity of the atopic status on the cytokine secretion profile of Parietaria officinalis-specific T cells. Eur J Immunol 28, 37-46.
- Pascual, V., Liu, Y. J., Magalski, A., de Bouteiller, O., Banchereau, J., and Capra, J. D. (1994). Analysis of somatic mutation in five B cell subsets of human tonsil. J Exp Med 180, 329-339.
- Paul, W. E., and Seder, R. A. (1994). Lymphocyte responses and cytokines. Cell 76, 241-251.
- Pauly, S., Broll, K., Wittmann, M., Giegerich, G., and Schwarz, H. (2002). CD137 is expressed by follicular dendritic cells and costimulates B lymphocyte activation in germinal centers. J Leukoc Biol 72, 35-42.
- Pepys, M. B. (1972). Role of complement in induction of the allergic response. Nat New Biol 237, 157-159.
- Perry, M., and Whyte, A. (1998). Immunology of the tonsils. Immunol Today 19, 414-421.
- Peters, A., and Storb, U. (1996). Somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin genes is linked to transcription initiation. Immunity 4, 57-65.
- Picker, L. J., and Butcher, E. C. (1992). Physiological and molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing. Annu Rev Immunol 10, 561-591.
- Picker, L. J., Treer, J. R., Ferguson-Darnell, B., Collins, P. A., Bergstresser, P. R., and Terstappen, L. W. (1993). Control of lymphocyte recirculation in man. II. Differential regulation of the cutaneous lymphocyteassociated antigen, a tissue-selective homing receptor for skin-homing T cells. J Immunol 150, 1122-1136.
- Pierre, P., Turley, S. J., Gatti, E., Hull, M., Meltzer, J., Mirza, A., Inaba, K., Steinman, R. M., and Mellman, I. (1997). Developmental regulation of MHC class II transport in mouse dendritic cells. Nature *388*, 787-792.
- Platts-Mills, T. A., Vaughan, J. W., Blumenthal, K., Pollart Squillace, S., and Sporik, R. B. (2001). Serum IgG and IgG4 antibodies to Fel d 1 among children exposed to 20 microg Fel d 1 at home: relevance of a nonallergic modified Th2 response. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 124, 126-129.
- Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M. Y., Huffel, C. V., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., et al. (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 282, 2085-2088.
- Prasthofer, E. F., Prchal, J. T., Grizzle, W. E., and Grossi, C. E. (1985). Plasmacytoid T-cell lymphoma associated with chronic myeloproliferative disorder. Am J Surg Pathol *9*, 380-387.
- Pulendran, B., Banchereau, J., Burkeholder, S., Kraus, E., Guinet, E., Chalouni, C., Caron, D., Maliszewski, C., Davoust, J., Fay, J., and Palucka, K. (2000). Flt3-ligand and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor mobilize distinct human dendritic cell subsets *in vivo*. J Immunol *165*, 566-572.
- Pulendran, B., Kumar, P., Cutler, C. W., Mohamadzadeh, M., Van Dyke, T., and Banchereau, J. (2001). Lipopolysaccharides from distinct pathogens induce different classes of immune responses *in vivo*. J Immunol 167, 5067-5076.
- Pulendran, B., Lingappa, J., Kennedy, M. K., Smith, J., Teepe, M., Rudensky, A., Maliszewski, C. R., and Maraskovsky, E. (1997). Developmental pathways of dendritic cells *in vivo*: distinct function, phenotype, and localization of dendritic cell subsets in FLT3 ligand- treated mice. J Immunol 159, 2222-2231.

- Pulendran, B., Smith, J. L., Caspary, G., Brasel, K., Pettit, D., Maraskovsky, E., and Maliszewski, C. R. (1999). Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response *in vivo*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 1036-1041.
- Randolph, G. J., Beaulieu, S., Lebecque, S., Steinman, R. M., and Muller, W. A. (1998). Differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells in a model of transendothelial trafficking. Science 282, 480-483.
- Randolph, G. J., Inaba, K., Robbiani, D. F., Steinman, R. M., and Muller, W. A. (1999). Differentiation of phagocytic monocytes into lymph node dendritic cells *in vivo*. Immunity 11, 753-761.
- Regnault, A., Lankar, D., Lacabanne, V., Rodriguez, A., Thery, C., Rescigno, M., Saito, T., Verbeek, S., Bonnerot, C., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., and Amigorena, S. (1999). Fcgamma receptor-mediated induction of dendritic cell maturation and major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted antigen presentation after immune complex internalization. J Exp Med 189, 371-380.
- Reif, K., Ekland, E. H., Ohl, L., Nakano, H., Lipp, M., Forster, R., and Cyster, J. G. (2002). Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. Nature 416, 94-99.
- Reinhardt, R. L., Khoruts, A., Merica, R., Zell, T., and Jenkins, M. K. (2001). Visualizing the generation of memory CD4 T cells in the whole body. Nature *410*, 101-105.
- Reis e Sousa, C., Yap, G., Schulz, O., Rogers, N., Schito, M., Aliberti, J., Hieny, S., and Sher, A. (1999). Paralysis of dendritic cell IL-12 production by microbial products prevents infection-induced immunopathology. Immunity 11, 637-647.
- Res, P. C., Couwenberg, F., Vyth-Dreese, F. A., and Spits, H. (1999). Expression of pTalpha mRNA in a committed dendritic cell precursor in the human thymus. Blood *94*, 2647-2657.
- Rissoan, M. C., Soumelis, V., Kadowaki, N., Grouard, G., Briere, F., de Waal Malefyt, R., and Liu, Y. J. (1999). Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. Science 283, 1183-1186.
- Roake, J. A., Rao, A. S., Morris, P. J., Larsen, C. P., Hankins, D. F., and Austyn, J. M. (1995). Dendritic cell loss from nonlymphoid tissues after systemic administration of lipopolysaccharide, tumor necrosis factor, and interleukin 1. J Exp Med 181, 2237-2247.
- Robinson, D. S., Hamid, Q., Ying, S., Tsicopoulos, A., Barkans, J., Bentley, A. M., Corrigan, C., Durham, S. R., and Kay, A. B. (1992). Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med 326, 298-304.
- Romagnani, S. (1991). Human TH1 and TH2 subsets: doubt no more. Immunol Today 12, 256-257.
- Romagnani, S. (1994). Lymphokine production by human T cells in disease states. Annu Rev Immunol *12*, 227-257.
- Romagnani, S. (2001). T-cell responses in allergy and asthma. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 1, 73-78.
- Rouse, R. V., Reichert, R. A., Gallatin, W. M., Weissman, I. L., and Butcher, E. C. (1984). Localization of lymphocyte subpopulations in peripheral lymphoid organs: directed lymphocyte migration and segregation into specific microenvironments. Am J Anat 170, 391-405.
- Russo, V., Tanzarella, S., Dalerba, P., Rigatti, D., Rovere, P., Villa, A., Bordignon, C., and Traversari, C. (2000). Dendritic cells acquire the MAGE-3 human tumor antigen from apoptotic cells and induce a class Irestricted T cell response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 2185-2190.
- Saeki, H., Moore, A. M., Brown, M. J., and Hwang, S. T. (1999). Cutting edge: secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine (SLC) and CC chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) participate in the emigration pathway of mature dendritic cells from the skin to regional lymph nodes. J Immunol *162*, 2472-2475.
- Sallusto, F., Cella, M., Danieli, C., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1995). Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. J Exp Med *182*, 389-400.
- Sallusto, F., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1994). Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med *179*, 1109-1118.
- Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Forster, R., Lipp, M., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1999). Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature *401*, 708-712.
- Santini, S. M., Lapenta, C., Logozzi, M., Parlato, S., Spada, M., Di Pucchio, T., and Belardelli, F. (2000). Type I interferon as a powerful adjuvant for monocyte-derived dendritic cell development and activity *in vitro* and in Hu-PBL-SCID mice. J Exp Med *191*, 1777-1788.
- Schaerli, P., Loetscher, P., and Moser, B. (2001). Cutting edge: induction of follicular homing precedes effector Th cell development. J Immunol *167*, 6082-6086.
- Schaerli, P., Willimann, K., Lang, A. B., Lipp, M., Loetscher, P., and Moser, B. (2000). CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. J Exp Med 192, 1553-1562.
- Schnare, M., Barton, G. M., Holt, A. C., Takeda, K., Akira, S., and Medzhitov, R. (2001). Toll-like receptors control activation of adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 2, 947-950.

- Schuler, G., and Steinman, R. M. (1985). Murine epidermal Langerhans cells mature into potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells *in vitro*. J Exp Med *161*, 526-546.
- Secrist, H., DeKruyff, R. H., and Umetsu, D. T. (1995). Interleukin 4 production by CD4+ T cells from allergic individuals is modulated by antigen concentration and antigen-presenting cell type. J Exp Med 181, 1081-1089.
- Shelley, W. B., and Juhlin, L. (1977). Selective uptake of contact allergens by the Langerhans cell. Arch Dermatol *113*, 187-192.
- Shimoda, K., van Deursen, J., Sangster, M. Y., Sarawar, S. R., Carson, R. T., Tripp, R. A., Chu, C., Quelle, F. W., Nosaka, T., Vignali, D. A., *et al.* (1996). Lack of IL-4-induced Th2 response and IgE class switching in mice with disrupted Stat6 gene. Nature 380, 630-633.
- Shuto, T., Xu, H., Wang, B., Han, J., Kai, H., Gu, X. X., Murphy, T. F., Lim, D. J., and Li, J. D. (2001). Activation of NF-kappa B by nontypeable Hemophilus influenzae is mediated by toll-like receptor 2-TAK1-dependent NIK-IKK alpha /beta-I kappa B alpha and MKK3/6-p38 MAP kinase signaling pathways in epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 8774-8779.
- Siegal, F. P., Kadowaki, N., Shodell, M., Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P. A., Shah, K., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., and Liu, Y. J. (1999). The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science 284, 1835-1837.
- Smith, K. M., Pottage, L., Thomas, E. R., Leishman, A. J., Doig, T. N., Xu, D., Liew, F. Y., and Garside, P. (2000). Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cells provide help for B cell clonal expansion and antibody synthesis in a similar manner *in vivo*. J Immunol *165*, 3136-3144.
- Snapper, C. M., Marcu, K. B., and Zelazowski, P. (1997). The immunoglobulin class switch: beyond "accessibility". Immunity *6*, 217-223.
- Snijders, A., Kalinski, P., Hilkens, C. M., and Kapsenberg, M. L. (1998). High-level IL-12 production by human dendritic cells requires two signals. Int Immunol *10*, 1593-1598.
- Sornasse, T., Larenas, P. V., Davis, K. A., de Vries, J. E., and Yssel, H. (1996). Differentiation and stability of T helper 1 and 2 cells derived from naive human neonatal CD4+ T cells, analyzed at the single-cell level. J Exp Med *184*, 473-483.
- Soumelis, V., Reche, P. A., Kanzler, H., Yuan, W., Edward, G., Homey, B., Gilliet, M., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Lauerma, A., *et al.* (2002). Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. Nat Immunol *3*, 673-680.
- Sousa, C. R., Hieny, S., Scharton-Kersten, T., Jankovic, D., Charest, H., Germain, R. N., and Sher, A. (1997). *In vivo* microbial stimulation induces rapid CD40 ligand-independent production of interleukin 12 by dendritic cells and their redistribution to T cell areas. J Exp Med *186*, 1819-1829.
- Spits, H., Couwenberg, F., Bakker, A. Q., Weijer, K., and Uittenbogaart, C. H. (2000). Id2 and Id3 inhibit development of CD34(+) stem cells into predendritic cell (pre-DC)2 but not into pre-DC1. Evidence for a lymphoid origin of pre-DC2. J Exp Med *192*, 1775-1784.
- Stavnezer-Nordgren, J., and Sirlin, S. (1986). Specificity of immunoglobulin heavy chain switch correlates with activity of germline heavy chain genes prior to switching. Embo J *5*, 95-102.
- Steinman, R. M., Adams, J. C., and Cohn, Z. A. (1975). Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. IV. Identification and distribution in mouse spleen. J Exp Med 141, 804-820.
- Steinman, R. M., and Cohn, Z. A. (1973). Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med 137, 1142-1162.
- Steinman, R. M., and Cohn, Z. A. (1974). Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. II. Functional properties *in vitro*. J Exp Med 139, 380-397.
- Steinman, R. M., Lustig, D. S., and Cohn, Z. A. (1974). Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. 3. Functional properties *in vivo*. J Exp Med *139*, 1431-1445.
- Steinman, R. M., and Witmer, M. D. (1978). Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75, 5132-5136.
- Stockinger, B., Zal, T., Zal, A., and Gray, D. (1996). B cells solicit their own help from T cells. J Exp Med 183, 891-899.
- Stoll, S., Delon, J., Brotz, T. M., and Germain, R. N. (2002). Dynamic imaging of T cell-dendritic cell interactions in lymph nodes. Science 296, 1873-1876.
- Streilein, J. W., Toews, G. T., Gilliam, J. N., and Bergstresser, P. R. (1980). Tolerance or hypersensitivity to 2,4dinitro-1-fluorobenzene: the role of Langerhans cell density within epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 74, 319-322.
- Szakal, A. K., Kosco, M. H., and Tew, J. G. (1988). A novel *in vivo* follicular dendritic cell-dependent iccosome-mediated mechanism for delivery of antigen to antigen-processing cells. J Immunol 140, 341-353.
- Tew, J. G., and Mandel, T. E. (1979). Prolonged antigen half-life in the lymphoid follicles of specifically immunized mice. Immunology *37*, 69-76.

- Tew, J. G., Wu, J., Qin, D., Helm, S., Burton, G. F., and Szakal, A. K. (1997). Follicular dendritic cells and presentation of antigen and costimulatory signals to B cells. Immunol Rev *156*, 39-52.
- Thorbecke, G. J., Silberberg-Sinakin, I., and Flotte, T. J. (1980). Langerhans cells as macrophages in skin and lymphoid organs. J Invest Dermatol 75, 32-43.
- Tian, M., and Alt, F. W. (2000a). RNA editing meets DNA shuffling. Nature 407, 31, 33.
- Tian, M., and Alt, F. W. (2000b). Transcription-induced cleavage of immunoglobulin switch regions by nucleotide excision repair nucleases *in vitro*. J Biol Chem 275, 24163-24172.
- Toellner, K. M., Jenkinson, W. E., Taylor, D. R., Khan, M., Sze, D. M., Sansom, D. M., Vinuesa, C. G., and MacLennan, I. C. (2002). Low-level hypermutation in T cell-independent germinal centers compared with high mutation rates associated with T cell-dependent germinal centers. J Exp Med *195*, 383-389.
- Toellner, K. M., Luther, S. A., Sze, D. M., Choy, R. K., Taylor, D. R., MacLennan, I. C., and Acha-Orbea, H. (1998). T helper 1 (Th1) and Th2 characteristics start to develop during T cell priming and are associated with an immediate ability to induce immunoglobulin class switching. J Exp Med *187*, 1193-1204.
- Toews, G. B., Bergstresser, P. R., and Streilein, J. W. (1980). Langerhans cells: sentinels of skin associated lymphoid tissue. J Invest Dermatol 75, 78-82.
- Tracy, R. B., Hsieh, C. L., and Lieber, M. R. (2000). Stable RNA/DNA hybrids in the mammalian genome: inducible intermediates in immunoglobulin class switch recombination. Science 288, 1058-1061.
- Vajdy, M., Kosco-Vilbois, M. H., Kopf, M., Kohler, G., and Lycke, N. (1995). Impaired mucosal immune responses in interleukin 4-targeted mice. J Exp Med 181, 41-53.
- Valladeau, J., Ravel, O., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., Moore, K., Kleijmeer, M., Liu, Y., Duvert-Frances, V., Vincent, C., Schmitt, D., Davoust, J., *et al.* (2000). Langerin, a novel C-type lectin specific to Langerhans cells, is an endocytic receptor that induces the formation of Birbeck granules. Immunity 12, 71-81.
- Vieira, P. L., de Jong, E. C., Wierenga, E. A., Kapsenberg, M. L., and Kalinski, P. (2000). Development of Th1inducing capacity in myeloid dendritic cells requires environmental instruction. J Immunol 164, 4507-4512.
- Wagner, S. D., and Neuberger, M. S. (1996). Somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin genes. Annu Rev Immunol 14, 441-457.
- Walker, L. S., Gulbranson-Judge, A., Flynn, S., Brocker, T., Raykundalia, C., Goodall, M., Forster, R., Lipp, M., and Lane, P. (1999). Compromised OX40 function in CD28-deficient mice is linked with failure to develop CXC chemokine receptor 5-positive CD4 cells and germinal centers. J Exp Med 190, 1115-1122.
- Weiner, H. L. (2001). Oral tolerance: immune mechanisms and the generation of Th3-type TGF- beta-secreting regulatory cells. Microbes Infect *3*, 947-954.
- Whelan, M., Harnett, M. M., Houston, K. M., Patel, V., Harnett, W., and Rigley, K. P. (2000). A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. J Immunol 164, 6453-6460.
- Wierenga, E. A., Snoek, M., de Groot, C., Chretien, I., Bos, J. D., Jansen, H. M., and Kapsenberg, M. L. (1990). Evidence for compartmentalization of functional subsets of CD2+ T lymphocytes in atopic patients. J Immunol 144, 4651-4656.
- Wilson, P. C., de Bouteiller, O., Liu, Y. J., Potter, K., Banchereau, J., Capra, J. D., and Pascual, V. (1998). Somatic hypermutation introduces insertions and deletions into immunoglobulin V genes. J Exp Med 187, 59-70.
- Wu, X., Jiang, N., Fang, Y. F., Xu, C., Mao, D., Singh, J., Fu, Y. X., and Molina, H. (2000). Impaired affinity maturation in Cr2-/- mice is rescued by adjuvants without improvement in germinal center development. J Immunol 165, 3119-3127.
- Xu, L., Gorham, B., Li, S. C., Bottaro, A., Alt, F. W., and Rothman, P. (1993). Replacement of germ-line epsilon promoter by gene targeting alters control of immunoglobulin heavy chain class switching. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 3705-3709.
- Yamamura, M., Uyemura, K., Deans, R. J., Weinberg, K., Rea, T. H., Bloom, B. R., and Modlin, R. L. (1991). Defining protective responses to pathogens: cytokine profiles in leprosy lesions. Science 254, 277-279.
- Yanagihara, S., Komura, E., Nagafune, J., Watarai, H., and Yamaguchi, Y. (1998). EBI1/CCR7 is a new member of dendritic cell chemokine receptor that is up-regulated upon maturation. J Immunol 161, 3096-3102.
- Yazdanbakhsh, M., Kremsner, P. G., and van Ree, R. (2002). Allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis. Science 296, 490-494.
- Yoshikawa, K., Okazaki, I. M., Eto, T., Kinoshita, K., Muramatsu, M., Nagaoka, H., and Honjo, T. (2002). AID enzyme-induced hypermutation in an actively transcribed gene in fibroblasts. Science *296*, 2033-2036.
- Young, J. W., Koulova, L., Soergel, S. A., Clark, E. A., Steinman, R. M., and Dupont, B. (1992). The B7/BB1 antigen provides one of several costimulatory signals for the activation of CD4+ T lymphocytes by human blood dendritic cells *in vitro*. J Clin Invest 90, 229-237.
- Yrlid, U., and Wick, M. J. (2000). Salmonella-induced apoptosis of infected macrophages results in presentation of a bacteria-encoded antigen after uptake by bystander dendritic cells. J Exp Med *191*, 613-624.

- Zhang, X., Li, L., Jung, J., Xiang, S., Hollmann, C., and Choi, Y. S. (2001). The distinct roles of T cell-derived cytokines and a novel follicular dendritic cell-signaling molecule 8D6 in germinal center-B cell differentiation. J Immunol 167, 49-56.
- Zou, W., Machelon, V., Coulomb-L'Hermin, A., Borvak, J., Nome, F., Isaeva, T., Wei, S., Krzysiek, R., Durand-Gasselin, I., Gordon, A., *et al.* (2001). Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumors recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. Nat Med 7, 1339-1346.